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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data as of and for the years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 

2004 have been derived from the audited consolidated financial statements.

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share data)

Income Statement Data (year ended December 31):
Revenue $ 879,758 $ 885,621 $ 964,067 $ 986,457 $ 1,137,864

Cost of sales 149,342 178,083 190,868 176,545  191,211

Gross profi t 730,416 707,538 773,199 809,912 946,653

Operating expenses:

Selling expenses 345,259 347,452 382,159 407,088 487,631

General and administrative expenses 294,744 288,605 285,229 289,925 333,263

Restructuring and other charges — — — 5,592 —

Total operating expenses 640,003 636,057 667,388 702,605 820,894

Operating income 90,413 71,481 105,811 107,307 125,759

Other income (expense), net 5,993 8,380 (2,886) 432 (3,618)

Income before provision for income taxes 96,406 79,861 102,925 107,739 122,141

Provision for income taxes 34,706 29,548 38,082 39,863 44,467

Net income (1) $ 61,700 $ 50,313 $ 64,843 $ 67,876 $ 77,674

Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.72 $ 0.60 $ 0.79 $ 0.86 $ 1.10

Diluted $ 0.72 $ 0.60 $ 0.78 $ 0.85 $ 1.07

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (000s):

Basic 85,401 83,472 81,731 78,637 70,734

Diluted 85,642 83,915 83,128 79,541 72,627

Balance Sheet Data (at end of period):
Cash and cash equivalents and current investments $ 63,996 $ 75,923 $ 120,341 $ 122,568 $ 120,095

Working capital 123,828 153,495 181,942 149,324 117,401

Total assets 555,621 546,024 577,794 591,059 609,737

Current portion of long-term debt — — — 17,915 18,540

Long-term debt 84,884 73,718 81,732 147,488 132,701

Stockholders’ equity 366,733 379,890 386,486 290,248 296,233

Supplemental Operating Data (at end of period):
Approximate number of active distributors (2) 497,000 558,000 566,000 725,000 820,000

Number of executive distributors (2) 21,381 24,839 27,915 29,131 32,016

(1)  In January 2002, we adopted SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Assuming no amortization of goodwill and other indefi-
nite lived intangibles for all periods presented prior to adoption, net income would have been $68 million and $57 million for each of the 
years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively. For 2003, net income includes a pre-tax, non-recurring charge of $6 million due to 
restructuring and other charges incurred during the third quarter.

(2)  Active distributors include preferred customers and distributors purchasing products directly from us during the three months ended as of 
the date indicated. An executive distributor is an active distributor who has achieved required personal and group sales volumes. Following 
the opening of our retail business in China during 2003, active distributors includes 117,000 and 147,000 preferred customers in China 
and executive distributors includes 3,100 and 5,437 employed, full-time sales representatives for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 
2004, respectively.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the Con-

solidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto, which are included in this Annual Report.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading, global direct selling company with operations in approximately 40 countries throughout Asia, the Americas 

and Europe. We develop and distribute premium quality, innovative personal care products and nutritional supplements that 

are sold worldwide under the Nu Skin and Pharmanex brands. We also market technology-related products and services under 

the Big Planet brand. We operate through a direct selling model in all of our markets except Mainland China (hereinafter 

“China”), where we operate using a retail sales model with employed sales representatives because of current regulatory re-

strictions on direct selling activities. In 2004, we had revenue of $1.14 billion and a global network of approximately 820,000 

active independent distributors and preferred customers who purchase our products for resale or for personal use. Approxi-

mately 32,000 of these distributors were executive level distributors or full-time sales representatives, who play an important 

leadership role in our distribution network and are critical to the growth and profitability of our business. 

Our revenue depends on the number and productivity of our active independent distributors and executive distributor 

leaders. We have been successful in attracting and motivating distributors by: 

• developing and marketing innovative, technologically advanced products; 

• offering an attractive global compensation plan; and 

• providing compelling initiatives, advanced technological tools, and strong distributor support.

Our distributors market and sell our products and recruit other distributors based on the distinguishing benefits 

and innovative characteristics of our products, the benefits of our compensation plans, and other initiatives. As a result, 

it is vital to our business that we continuously leverage our research and development resources to develop and introduce 

innovative products and provide our distributors with a differentiated portfolio of products and initiatives. If we expe-

rience delays in introducing compelling products or attractive initiatives into a market, this can have a negative impact 

on revenue. Additionally, it is important that we continually innovate our compensation plan to provide a vibrant earn-

ings opportunity for our distributor force.

We have experienced significant growth over the last year due in part to our efforts to expand into new markets, 

including our expansion of operations in China. We are currently working on plans to commence operations in Indonesia 

and Russia. Our global compensation plan, which we utilize in all of our markets except China, motivates our key 

distributor leaders to assist in the recruitment and training of distributor leaders in new markets because they are com-

pensated for global sales in their network of distributors. This has allowed us to generate rapid growth in our new 

markets. Sometimes, however, the opening of a new market or the introduction of a key initiative such as the roll-out of 

the Pharmanex® BioPhotonic Scanner (the “BioPhotonic Scanner”) in a market can have a temporary negative impact on 

other markets if it attracts the attention and time of key executive distributor leaders from other markets. 

We also have continued to expand and promote product subscription programs in many of our markets that provide 

incentives for customers to commit to purchase a specific amount of products on a monthly basis. We believe these subscrip-

tion programs have improved customer retention and helped drive revenue growth in many of our markets. Subscription 

orders represented 29% of our revenue in 2004 compared to 24% in the prior year.

In 2004, we generated approximately 84% of our revenue from our Asian markets, with sales in Japan representing 

approximately 51% of revenue. Because of the size of our foreign operations, operating results can be impacted negatively 

or positively by factors such as foreign currency f luctuations, in particular f luctuations between the Japanese yen and the 

U.S. dollar, and economic, political and business conditions around the world. In addition, our business is subject to various 

laws and regulations, in particular regulations related to network marketing activities and nutritional supplements that 

create certain risks for our business, including improper claims or activities by our distributors and potential inability 

to obtain necessary product registrations. For more information about these risks and challenges we face, please refer to 

“Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”



35

INCOME STATEMENT PRESENTATION

We recognize revenue in five geographic regions. We translate revenue from each market’s local currency into U.S. dollars 

using quarterly weighted-average exchange rates. The following table sets forth revenue information by region for the time 

periods indicated. This table should be reviewed in connection with the tables presented under “Results of Operations,” 

which disclose selling expenses and other costs associated with generating the aggregate revenue presented.

Year Ended December 31,

Revenue by Region 2002 2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in millions)

North Asia $ 597.1 62% $ 612.8 62% $ 640.1  56%

Greater China 104.9 11 135.5 14 229.8  20

North America 142.7 15 127.6 13 145.7  13

South Asia/Pacifi c 91.1 9 75.8 8 81.8   7

Other Markets 28.3 3 34.8 3 40.5   4

$ 964.1 100% $ 986.5 100% $ 1,137.9 100%

Cost of sales primarily consists of:

• cost of products purchased from third-party vendors, generally in U.S. dollars; 

• manufacturing costs of self-manufactured products;

• the cost of sales materials which we sell to distributors at or near cost; 

• the amortization expenses associated with certain products and services such as BioPhotonic Scanners that are 

leased to distributors; 

• the freight cost of shipping products to distributors, and import duties for the products; and

• royalties and related expenses for licensed technologies.

We source the majority of our products from third-party manufacturers located in the United States. Due to Chinese 

government restrictions on the importation of finished goods applicable to our business in China, we are required to manu-

facture our own products for distribution in China. We are also considering plans to manufacture more products in China 

for export in order to reduce our cost of sales. Cost of sales and gross profit may f luctuate as a result of changes in the ratio 

between self-manufactured products and products sourced from third-party suppliers. In addition, because we purchase a 

significant majority of our goods in U.S. dollars and recognize revenue in local currencies, we are subject to exchange rate 

risks in our gross margins. 

Selling expenses are our most significant expense and are classified as operating expenses. Our global compensation 

plan, which we employ in all of our markets except China, is an important factor in our ability to attract and retain dis-

tributors. We pay commissions to several levels of distributors on each product sale. The amount of the commission paid 

varies depending on the purchaser’s position within our global compensation plan. We pay commissions monthly, based 

upon a distributor’s personal and group product volumes, as well as the group product volumes of up to six levels of execu-

tive distributors in such distributor’s downline sales organization. We do not pay commissions on sales materials, which 

are sold to distributors at or about cost. Small f luctuations occur in the amount of commissions paid as the network of dis-

tributors actively purchasing products changes from month to month. However, due to the size of our distributor force of 

approximately 820,000 active distributors, the f luctuation in the overall payout is relatively small. The overall payout has 

typically averaged from 41% to 43% of global product sales. From time to time we make modifications and enhancements 

to our global compensation plan to help motivate distributors and develop leadership characteristics, which can have an 

impact on selling expenses. 

Distributors also have the opportunity to make retail profits by purchasing products from us at wholesale and selling 

them to retail customers with a retail mark-up. We do not pay commissions on these retail sales by distributors nor do we 

recognize any revenue from these retail sales. In many markets, we also allow individuals who are not distributors to buy 

products directly from us at wholesale prices. We refer to these purchasers as “preferred customers.” We pay commissions 

on preferred customer purchases to the referring distributors. Selling expenses also include wages, benefits, bonuses and 

other labor and unemployment expenses we pay to our employed sales representatives in China.

General and administrative expenses include:

• wages and benefits;

• rents and utilities;

• depreciation and amortization;

• promotion and advertising;

• professional fees;
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• travel; 

• research and development; and 

• other operating expenses. 

Labor expenses are the most significant portion of our general and administrative expenses. Promotion and advertising 

expenses include costs of distributor conventions held in various markets worldwide, which we expense in the period in 

which they are incurred. Because our various distributor conventions are not always held during each fiscal year, their 

impact on our general and administrative expenses may vary from year to year. For example, we typically hold our global 

distributor convention and our Japan distributor convention, our two most expensive conventions, every 18 months. There-

fore, we will not incur expenses for these conventions during every fiscal year or in comparable interim periods, and year-

over-year comparisons will be impacted accordingly. We held global distributor conventions in October 2002 and February 

2004, and Japan distributor conventions in February 2003 and November 2004. We are scheduled to hold a global dis-

tributor convention in October 2005.

Provision for income taxes depends on the statutory tax rates in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. For 

example, statutory tax rates in 2004 were approximately 17.5% in Hong Kong, 25% in Taiwan, 30% in South Korea, 46% 

in Japan and 31% in China. We are currently benefiting from a tax holiday in China, which will run through the end of 

2005. We will then be subject to a reduced tax rate of 50% of the statutory rate for the years 2006, 2007 and 2008, after 

which time we will be subject to the full statutory rate. We are subject to taxation in the United States at the statutory 

corporate federal tax rate of 35%, and we pay taxes in multiple states within the United States at various tax rates. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

The following critical accounting policies and estimates should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated fi-

nancial statements and related notes thereto. Management considers the most critical accounting policies to be the recogni-

tion of revenue, accounting for income taxes and accounting for intangible assets. In each of these areas, management makes 

estimates based on historical results, current trends and future projections. 

Revenue. We recognize revenue when products are shipped, which is when title and risk of loss pass to our independent 

distributors. With some exceptions in various countries, we offer a return policy whereby distributors can return unopened 

and unused product for up to 12 months subject to a 10% restocking fee. Reported revenue is net of returns, which have 

historically been less than 5% of gross sales. A reserve for product returns is accrued based on historical experience. We clas-

sify selling discounts as a reduction of revenue. Our global compensation plan for our distributors is focused on remunerating 

distributors based upon the selling efforts of the distributors and their downline, and not their personal purchases. 

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes in accordance with Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 

No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” This statement establishes financial accounting and reporting standards for the 

effects of income taxes that result from an enterprise’s activities during the current and preceding years. It requires an asset 

and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting of income taxes. We pay income taxes in many foreign jurisdic-

tions based on the profits realized in those jurisdictions, which can be significantly impacted by terms of intercompany 

transactions among our affiliates around the world. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are created in this process. As of 

December 31, 2004, we had net deferred tax assets of $49.2 million. These net deferred tax assets assume sufficient future 

earnings will exist for their realization, as well as the continued application of current tax rates. We have considered pro-

jected future taxable income and ongoing tax planning strategies in determining that no valuation allowance is required. 

In the event we were to determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets in the future, 

an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would be charged to earnings in the period such determination was made. 

Our foreign taxes paid are high relative to foreign operating income and our U.S. taxes paid are low relative to U.S. 

operating income due largely to the f low of funds among our subsidiaries around the world. As payments for services, 

management fees, license arrangements and royalties are made from our foreign affiliates to our U.S. corporate headquarters, 

these payments often incur withholding and other forms of tax that are generally creditable for U.S. tax purposes. Therefore, 

these payments lead to increased foreign effective tax rates and lower U.S. effective tax rates. Variations (or shifts) occur 

in our foreign and U.S. effective tax rates from year to year depending on several factors including the impact of global 

transfer prices and the timing and level of remittances from foreign affiliates.

We are subject to regular audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. These audits may result in additional tax 

liabilities. We account for such contingent liabilities in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies” and 

believe that we have appropriately provided for income taxes for all years. Several factors drive the calculation of our tax 

reserves. Some of these factors include: (i) the expiration of various statutes of limitations; (ii) changes in tax law and 

regulations; (iii) issuance of tax rulings; and (iv) settlements with tax authorities. Changes in any of these factors may result 

in adjustments to our reserves, which would impact our reported financial results. 

Intangible Assets. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), our 

goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized. Our intangible assets with definite lives 
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are recorded at cost and are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives, and are reviewed for impairment in ac-

cordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (see Note 5 to the Con-

solidated Financial Statements).

We are required to make judgments regarding the useful life of our intangible assets. With the implementation of SFAS 

142, we determined certain intangible assets to have indefinite lives based upon our analysis of the requirements of SFAS 

No. 141, “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and SFAS 142. Under the provisions of SFAS 142, we are required to test 

these assets for impairment at least annually. The annual impairment tests have been completed and did not result in an 

impairment charge. To the extent an impairment is identified in the future, we will record the amount of the impairment 

as an operating expense in the period in which it is identified.

In connection with a registration statement we filed in October 2003, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Com-

mission commented on and sought additional support for the indefinite life designation of our trade names, marketing rights 

and distributor network assets. Based on our assessment in responding to these comments, we recorded the following in the 

second quarter of 2004: (i) a one-time amortization charge of $1.2 million resulting from retroactive changes in the estimates 

of the useful lives of certain intangible assets, which included the assignment of useful lives to our distributor network and 

certain trademarks and trade names that were previously designated as indefinite lived assets; (ii) an entry to reduce intan-

gible assets and retained earnings by approximately $8.8 million to reflect a reduction in the carrying amount of the mar-

keting rights previously purchased from a group of controlling shareholders to its carryover basis; and (iii) an entry to 

reclassify approximately $7.4 million from goodwill to distributor network and trade names and trademarks to retroac-

tively reflect intangible assets acquired. 

As a result of these changes we recorded an additional $0.9 million of amortization related to these assets during the 

remainder of 2004 and will continue to recognize an additional $1.2 million of such amortization per year through the 

remainder of the useful lives, which approximate 11 years as of December 31, 2004.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth our operating results as a percentage of revenue for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Cost of sales 19.8 17.9 16.8

Gross profi t 80.2 82.1 83.2

Operating expenses:

Selling expenses 39.6 41.3 42.9

General and administrative expenses 29.6 29.4 29.3

Restructuring and other charges — .5 —

Total operating expenses 69.2 71.2 72.2

Operating income 11.0 10.9 11.0

Other income (expense), net (.3) — (.3)

Income before provision for income taxes 10.7 10.9 10.7

Provision for income taxes 4.0 4.0 3.9

Net income 6.7% 6.9% 6.8%
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2004 COMPARED TO 2003

Overview

Revenue in 2004 increased 15% to $1,137.9 million from $986.5 million in 2003. Excluding the impact of changes in 

foreign currency exchange rates, we would have experienced a revenue increase of 11% for 2004 compared to 2003. The 

revenue increase in 2004 was a result of significant revenue growth in China, as well as solid revenue growth in the 

United States, Taiwan and Hong Kong. During 2004 we continued to see the positive impact of our BioPhotonic Scanner 

and monthly product subscription programs. We continued to expand our use of the BioPhotonic Scanner in the United 

States and initiated lease programs in other key markets including Japan in November 2004. Subscription orders repre-

sented 29% of our revenue in 2004 compared to 24% in the prior year. We believe that these programs are strengthening 

our recurring revenue base and are improving customer retention rates, as well as helping our distributor leaders build their 

sales organizations. Revenue growth in 2004 was negatively impacted by a decline in local currency revenue in Japan. 

These factors also contributed to a $0.22 increase in earnings per share in 2004 compared to 2003. Earnings per share 

for 2003 included the impact of a $0.04 per share, one-time restructuring charge. The growth in earnings per share was 

also positively impacted by the repurchase of 10.8 million and 3.1 million shares of our Class A common stock in October 

2003 and July 2004, respectively.

Revenue

North Asia. The following table sets forth revenue for the North Asia region and its principal markets:

2003 2004 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Japan $ 553.8 $ 574.4  4%

South Korea  59.0  65.7  11%

North Asia total $ 612.8 $ 640.1  4%

Excluding the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, revenue in North Asia decreased 1% in 2004 

compared to 2003. In local currency, revenue in Japan decreased 3%. Revenue in Japan during 2004 was negatively im-

pacted by the absence of a compelling growth driver for our distributors during most of the year as a result of regulatory 

uncertainty associated with the BioPhotonic Scanner that prevented us from introducing it until November 2004. Revenue 

was also negatively impacted by:

• key distributor leaders spending time in other markets pending the launch of the BioPhotonic Scanner; 

• stock outages resulting from product quality and regulatory challenges we faced during 2004, including BSE (or 

mad cow disease) issues in the first quarter, which required us to convert many of our dietary supplements for sale 

in Japan from bovine-based capsules to tablets and non-bovine based capsules; and

• competitive pressures.

We began leasing BioPhotonic Scanners to our distributor leaders in Japan in November 2004, and we plan to increase 

the number of BioPhotonic Scanners available for lease in this market throughout the upcoming year. We have also made 

recent changes to our distributor incentives which are designed to help promote growth in the number of executive dis-

tributors. These initiatives helped us post improved results in the fourth quarter, with local currency revenue down only 

2% on a year-over-year basis compared to an 8% decline in the third quarter, and solid sequential growth of 7% in execu-

tive distributors.

In South Korea, our local currency revenue grew 7% in 2004 compared to 2003 primarily as a result of continued 

growth in our active distributors. We believe that strong initiatives and distributor support contributed to the growth in 

this market despite the difficult regulatory and economic conditions in South Korea that we expect will continue to nega-

tively impact this market in 2005. 
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Greater China. The following table sets forth revenue for the Greater China region and its principal markets:

2003 2004 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

China $ 38.5 $ 105.6 174%

Taiwan 73.1 82.8 13%

Hong Kong 23.9 41.4 73%

Greater China total $ 135.5 $ 229.8 70%

Revenue growth in Greater China was a result of the continued expansion of operations in China, as well as strong 

growth in Hong Kong and Taiwan. Currencies in China and Hong Kong are generally pegged to the U.S. dollar, minimizing 

the impact of foreign currency f luctuations on this region. 

China revenue grew by 174% compared to 2003. We continued to successfully grow our business in China as a result of:

• expansion of our sales representatives, based in part upon the attractiveness of the opportunity for employment 

with us in the market;

• successful product launches and promotions; and

• a robust economy, with a focus on international brands and opportunities. 

Following a period of rapid sequential growth in China in 2003 and the first half of 2004, however, revenue declined 

slightly in the third quarter of 2004 compared to the second quarter, and then stabilized sequentially in the fourth 

quarter. Also, the number of sales representatives remained essentially level during the second half of the year. This 

softening in the second half of the year is attributed to a softening of the recruiting environment for new customers and 

sales representatives after an initial 18 months of rapid sequential growth. This softening was also largely the result of 

our taking actions against sales representatives who had violated company policies. Due to increased media and govern-

ment scrutiny of activities related to direct selling and direct selling companies operating in China in advance of new 

direct selling regulations, we focused more on training our sales representatives and enforcing our sales policies that 

prohibit improper promotion of our business, and less on implementing aggressive growth initiatives. This emphasis re-

sulted in disciplinary actions against, or termination of employment of, sales representatives who had violated these 

policies, and contributed to the lack of growth in our revenue, our customers and our sales representative numbers during 

the second half of 2004. We believe, however, that our long-term growth prospects were enhanced due to these actions. 

Results in China were also negatively impacted by uncertainties and delays with respect to the new direct selling regu-

lations and related negative and confusing media coverage.

We currently anticipate that new regulations will be adopted in the next several months and are optimistic that the 

new regulations will positively impact our business in China. After publication of the new regulations, we anticipate that 

companies interested in operating direct selling businesses in China will need to secure a direct selling license, which will 

likely take several months. In the meantime, we are implementing initiatives to keep the opportunity vibrant for our sales 

leaders, including the launch of three key Pharmanex products in January 2005 and the introduction of the BioPhotonic 

Scanner in our retail stores in China. We also are taking steps to be prepared to apply for a direct selling license under the 

anticipated regulations. We currently have retail stores in nearly every province in China, but the new regulations are 

expected to require a certain minimum number of retail stores in a particular province in order to receive approval to conduct 

direct selling in such province. Therefore, it is widely anticipated that a company will need a minimum of 300 to 400 retail 

stores in China to conduct direct selling in all provinces and municipalities throughout the country. We currently have 120 

stores in China and plan to add 80 to 100 stores in 2005 and additional stores in 2006. While the regulations are still not 

final, and we have not yet been approved to conduct direct selling, we anticipate that we will be able to conduct direct 

selling in four or five leading provinces and municipalities by the end of 2005, and in additional provinces and munici-

palities in 2006. As our business model in China is centered on our sales representatives and their productivity, we do not 

believe that store openings will directly lead to new revenue in the market. Rather, revenue growth is primarily dependent 

upon sales force productivity and the recruitment of new sales representatives.

We expect to continue to experience government and media scrutiny in China due to our status as a leading, global 

direct selling company and the increased focus on the direct selling industry as new regulations are implemented. Until 

such time as the regulations are final, we obtain a direct selling license, and make any changes to our business model, we 

will continue to focus on training our sales employees and enforcing our employee policies to maximize the likelihood of 

obtaining a direct selling license in a timely manner.

Hong Kong and Taiwan each generated strong growth in revenue and in the number of executive and active distributors 

in 2004. Modifications we made to our compensation plan in early 2004 in these markets to promote the development of 

executive distributors, as well as continued growth in monthly product subscription orders, contributed to the growth in 

revenue in these markets. The revenue increases in these markets were also due in part to continued enthusiasm for business 
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prospects in China and the use of the BioPhotonic Scanner, particularly in Taiwan. In addition, revenue in Hong Kong was 

positively impacted by sales of products to sales representatives from China for personal consumption, particularly to those 

sales representatives attending our third quarter sales convention in Hong Kong. We anticipate, however, that the launch 

of Pharmanex products into China will have a negative impact on Hong Kong and Taiwan revenue in 2005.    

North America. The following table sets forth revenue for the North America region and its principal markets:

2003 2004 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

United States $ 118.2 $ 135.7 15%

Canada 9.4 10.0 6%

North America total $ 127.6 $ 145.7 14%

Revenue in the United States grew 15% in 2004 compared to 2003 and was positively impacted by:  

• the BioPhotonic Scanner program;

• our monthly product subscription program; 

• the launch of a number of new, innovative Pharmanex and Nu Skin products; and

• $5.8 million in sales to international distributors at our global convention held in the U.S. in February 2004, which 

did not occur in 2003. 

These initiatives resulted in a 36% increase in Pharmanex revenue and a 4% increase in Nu Skin revenue in 2004 

compared to 2003, excluding sales to international distributors at our global distributor convention. These initiatives also 

continued to enhance distributor enthusiasm and sponsorship as well as increase retention. The number of executive dis-

tributors grew 10% in 2004 compared to 2003. The growth in revenue in Pharmanex and Nu Skin in the United States was 

partially offset by a decline in Big Planet revenue, primarily as a result of our strategic elimination of low margin products 

and services that generated approximately $11.0 million in revenue in 2003. Over the last couple of years, Big Planet has 

focused on eliminating low margin products while developing and introducing new products and services with margins 

comparable to Nu Skin and Pharmanex products. 

In addition, in connection with the global roll-out of the BioPhotonic Scanner program, some of our key U.S. distribu-

tor leaders spent time promoting the BioPhotonic Scanner in international markets. This negatively impacted revenue and 

distributor activity in the United States during the last half of the year as revenue and distributor statistics were rela-

tively f lat sequentially. The BioPhotonic Scanner was first introduced to our distributor force in the U.S. more than two 

years ago. As a result, we are currently working to implement initiatives tied to the BioPhotonic Scanner to maintain dis-

tributor enthusiasm and drive revenue in this market. 

We are currently involved in litigation with another licensee of the technology utilized in the BioPhotonic Scanner. 

The other licensee has alleged that the BioPhotonic Scanner is being used for medical diagnostic purposes in a medical 

clinical setting by certain distributors who are medical doctors, dentists and chiropractors. We allow such practitioners to 

use the BioPhotonic Scanner solely for promoting the sale of our nutritional supplements and not for medical diagnostic 

purposes or in a medical clinical setting, but the other licensee alleges that the way in which the BioPhotonic Scanner is 

used by such practitioners violates our license. We disagree. We estimate that we lease 10% or less of our active BioPho-

tonic Scanners in the United States to such practitioners. 

South Asia/Pacifi c. The following table sets forth revenue for the South Asia/Pacific region and its principal markets:

2003 2004 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Singapore/Malaysia/Brunei $ 36.7 $ 40.0 9%

Thailand 22.7 25.6 13%

Australia/New Zealand 13.5 13.1 (3%)

Philippines 2.9 3.1 7%

South Asia/Pacifi c total $ 75.8 $ 81.8 8%

Excluding the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, revenue in South Asia/Pacific increased 4% in 

2004 compared to 2003. The increase in local currency revenue in this region was due primarily to revenue growth in 

Thailand as well as an increase in combined Singapore/Malaysia revenue. We have experienced solid growth in Thailand 

for the last four years, but revenue was down 13% in local currency in the fourth quarter compared to prior year results. 

We launched the BioPhotonic Scanner program in Thailand in late 2004 to help improve distributor activity and revenue 
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in this market. Our focus on our monthly product subscription programs, growth in our nutrition business, and the BioPho-

tonic Scanner contributed to the revenue increases in Malaysia and Singapore. The revenue increases in these markets were 

slightly offset by a decrease in revenue in combined Australia/New Zealand. 

We anticipate that, in connection with our planned opening of the Indonesian market in 2005, some of our distributors 

in our other South Asia/Pacific and Greater China markets may focus some of their energies on this new market. We expect 

this could have some negative impact on these markets during 2005.

Other Markets. The following table sets forth revenue for our Other Markets:

2003 2004 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Europe $ 32.0 $ 36.6 14%

Latin America 2.8 3.9 39%

Other Markets total $ 34.8 $ 40.5 16%

The 16% increase in Other Markets was primarily due to a 14% increase in revenue in Europe, which was mostly 

attributed to the favorable impact of foreign currency f luctuations in 2004 compared to 2003. We experienced higher 

local currency growth in Europe during the second half of 2004, and in 2004 active distributors and executive dis-

tributors grew 25% and 17%, respectively over 2003. Although our Latin America business accounts for a small part of 

our business, we are making efforts to grow our business there as well as in other developing countries around the world. 

As a result of these efforts, revenue in Mexico was up 54% in local currency in 2004 compared to 2003, and the execu-

tive distributor count grew by 149%.  

Gross profit

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 83.2% in 2004 compared to 82.1% in 2003. Our gross profit was 

positively impacted by the shift away from low margin Big Planet revenue to higher margin Nu Skin and Pharmanex prod-

ucts, strong gross margins in China resulting from in-house manufacturing in that market, and the positive impact of f luc-

tuations in foreign currency exchange rates in 2004 compared to 2003. During 2004, we continued to expand the 

BioPhotonic Scanner program in the United States and in our international markets. Lease revenue from BioPhotonic 

Scanners has significantly lower margins than our personal care and nutritional supplement products, as we lease them on 

essentially a break-even basis. We expect gross margins to be slightly lower in 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of our 

expansion of the BioPhotonic Scanner program this year.

Selling expenses

Selling expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to 42.9% in 2004 from 41.3% in 2003. Selling expenses increased 

to $487.6 million in 2004 from $407.1 million in 2003. The increase in selling expenses as a percentage of revenue is due 

in part to higher costs associated with our employed sales representatives in China. We currently pay approximately 8% 

to 10% of local revenue in additional labor costs, including unemployment and benefits to our sales representatives in 

China. The increase in selling expenses as a percent of revenue was also due to a short-term increase in distributor incen-

tives in Japan in the fourth quarter of 2004. This increase in incentives resulted from the implementation of new components 

to our compensation plan in this market while certain existing components were transitioned out over several months. 

Completion of this transition will positively impact selling expenses as a percentage of revenue going forward. We expect 

selling expenses as a percentage of revenue to be slightly lower in 2005 compared to 2004, due in part also to our continued 

expansion of the BioPhotonic Scanner program, as no commissions are paid on the lease revenue from these machines. 

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue decreased slightly to 29.3% in 2004 from 29.4% in 2003. 

General and administrative expenses increased to $333.3 million in 2004 from $289.9 million in 2003. The U.S. dollar 

increase during 2004 in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to the incremental costs associated with 

significantly larger retail operations in China versus the prior year, stronger foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar, and 

higher distributor convention expenses. We anticipate incurring expenses of approximately $6.5 million in 2005 for our 

global distributor convention versus $10.5 million in 2004 relating to our global distributor convention and Japan dis-

tributor convention. General and administrative expenses will also be negatively impacted in 2005 by new accounting rules 

requiring us to begin expensing stock-based compensation granted to employees starting in the third quarter of 2005. Had 
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we recognized compensation cost for stock options in accordance with these new rules during 2004, our general and ad-

ministrative expenses would have been approximately $10.0 million higher that year.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net was $3.6 million of expense in 2004 compared to $0.4 million of income in 2003. This increase 

in other income (expense), net of $4.0 million is primarily related to increased interest expenses due to additional debt we 

entered into during 2003.

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes increased to $44.5 million in 2004 from $39.9 million in 2003. This increase was largely due 

to the increase in operating income as compared to the prior year. The effective tax rate decreased to 36.4% from 37.0% of 

pre-tax income in 2004 and 2003, respectively. This decrease in the effective tax rate was largely due to our election in 

2004 to permanently reinvest some of our earnings related to our foreign operations. We anticipate the remittance of these 

earnings to be postponed indefinitely. 

Net income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income increased to $77.7 million in 2004 from $67.9 million in 2003. 

2003 COMPARED TO 2002

Overview

Revenue in 2003 increased 2% to $986.5 million from $964.1 million in 2002. Excluding the impact of changes in foreign 

currency exchange rates, we experienced a revenue decline of 2% for 2003 compared to 2002. This resulted from the sale 

of our professional employer organization in the United States in August 2003 and our transition away from certain Big 

Planet offerings, both of which were eliminated as part of our continued efforts to eliminate low margin products and 

services. Although these actions negatively impacted 2003 to 2002 revenue comparisons by $22.0 million, we believe that 

they positively impacted gross and operating margins in the fourth quarter of 2003.

Revenue in 2003 was positively impacted by significant revenue growth from our expanded operations in China. In ad-

dition, growth in our U.S. nutrition business also positively impacted 2003 results. These improvements were largely offset 

by declines in local currency revenue in South Korea, Singapore and Malaysia, and in Japan for the year ended December 31, 

2003. The negative year-over-year comparisons were related in part to the shift of attention of distributor leaders away from 

their home markets during the first quarter of 2003 to focus on China, the positive impact on revenue results in 2002 from 

distributor enthusiasm surrounding and incentives related to our planned expansion of operations in China, and geo-political 

conflicts and weak economic conditions. After two consecutive quarters of year-over-year declines in Japan, revenue stabilized 

in this market during the last half of 2003. 

In late December 2003, the Company received notification that Japanese and South Korean regulators had suspended 

the importation of nutritional supplements in bovine-based capsules, which includes many of our Pharmanex products. A 

few weeks later, Japanese regulators also determined they would no longer allow these same products to be sold by nutrition 

companies after February 16, 2004. As a result, we transitioned our production to non-bovine capsules and tablets.  

Revenue

North Asia. The following table sets forth revenue for the North Asia region and its principal markets:

2002 2003 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Japan $ 533.0 $ 553.8 4%

South Korea 64.1 59.0 (8%)

North Asia total $ 597.1 $ 612.8 3%

Excluding the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, revenue in North Asia decreased 3% in 2003 

compared to 2002. In local currency, revenue in Japan decreased 2% in 2003 compared to 2002. Local currency revenue in 

Japan during 2003 was negatively impacted by the factors noted in “Overview” above. In local currency, revenue in South 

Korea decreased 12%. The decrease in revenue in South Korea was primarily a result of the factors discussed in “Overview” 
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above, as well as regulatory changes requiring a modification to our global compensation plan towards the end of 2002, 

which was disconcerting to our distributor leaders in this market. 

Greater China. The following table sets forth revenue for the Greater China region and its principal markets:

2002 2003 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Taiwan $ 78.9 $ 73.1 (7%)

China 2.0 38.5 1,825%

Hong Kong 24.0 23.9 —

Greater China total $ 104.9 $ 135.5 29%

Revenue in Greater China increased primarily as a result of the expansion of operations in China. Foreign currency 

f luctuations from 2002 to 2003 did not have a notable impact on this region. Revenue in China was $38.5 million in 2003, 

following our expansion of retail operations and the introduction of Nu Skin branded products in China in January 2003. 

On a sequential basis, revenue in China increased 67% from the third quarter to the fourth quarter. This growth is attrib-

uted to an increased number of preferred customers and employed sales representatives in China. The success of our prod-

uct launches and product promotions as well as our employment opportunities provide an attraction to many unemployed 

or underemployed sales people in China. As our business expands in China, we have experienced government scrutiny due 

to our international reputation as a direct selling company. 

The increase in revenue in China was somewhat offset by the decline in revenue in Taiwan. We believe that the SARS 

epidemic negatively impacted revenue in Taiwan and Hong Kong during the first half of 2003. In addition, revenue in 

Taiwan and Hong Kong during the second, third, and fourth quarters of 2002 was positively impacted by distributor en-

thusiasm surrounding our planned expansion of operations in China in 2003.

North America. The following table sets forth revenue for the North America region and its principal markets:

2002 2003 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

United States $ 133.3 $ 118.2 (11%)

Canada 9.4 9.4 —

North America total $ 142.7 $ 127.6 (11%)

The decline in revenue in the United States is principally a result of a $22.0 million revenue decline in Big Planet in 

2003 compared to the prior year. This decline was due primarily to the sale of our professional employer organization and 

the restructuring of Big Planet telecommunication products, both of which transitions are part of our continued efforts to 

eliminate or modify low margin products. In addition, revenue in 2002 in the United States included $6.0 million of sales 

to foreign distributors during the third quarter of 2002 at the global distributor convention held in the United States, which 

did not recur in 2003.

Increasing distributor activity tied to the BioPhotonic Scanner program, a focus on signing up more consumers on 

monthly reorder programs, the introduction of new weight management products and implementation of distributor leader-

ship incentives, however, resulted in 36% growth in our Pharmanex revenue in the United States from $48.3 million in 

2002 to $65.6 million in 2003, excluding sales to foreign distributors at the 2002 global convention held in the United 

States. Nu Skin revenue held relatively constant in 2003 compared to 2002, excluding sales to foreign distributors at the 

same 2002 global convention. Moreover, we experienced an 18% increase in our 2003 executive distributors in the United 

States and a 20% increase during 2003 of automatic delivery orders compared to 2002. Early in 2003, the FDA questioned 

the status of the BioPhotonic Scanner as a non-medical device. We believe the BioPhotonic Scanner can be marketed as a 

non-medical device, but the FDA has not responded yet to our request to classify the BioPhotonic Scanner as a non-medical 

device. In the event the FDA concludes that the BioPhotonic Scanner requires medical device clearance, this could delay or 

inhibit our ability to market the BioPhotonic Scanner. We intend to contest any conclusion by the FDA that the BioPho-

tonic Scanner is a medical device. 
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South Asia/Pacifi c. The following table sets forth revenue for the South Asia/Pacific region and its principal markets:

2002 2003 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Singapore/Malaysia $ 64.3 $ 36.7 (43%)

Thailand 13.0 22.7 75%

Australia/New Zealand 11.0 13.5 23%

Philippines 2.8 2.9 4%

South Asia/Pacifi c total $ 91.1 $ 75.8 (17%)

Excluding the impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, revenue in South Asia/Pacific decreased 21% in 

2003 compared to 2002. The decrease in revenue in this region was due primarily to the combined decrease in Singapore 

and Malaysia. Both Singapore and Malaysia were opened in the last two years. We often experience a revenue contraction 

after an initial period of rapid revenue growth following the opening of the market. This revenue contraction occurred 

later than usual in Singapore and Malaysia and was more pronounced than anticipated. We believe that this was due in 

part to distributor enthusiasm related to the planned opening of expanded operations in China in January 2003, which 

drove revenue growth throughout 2002. This decrease was somewhat offset by an increase in revenue in both Thailand and 

combined Australia/New Zealand.

Other Markets. The following table sets forth revenue for our Other Markets:

2002 2003 Change

(U.S. dollars in millions)

Europe $ 25.6 $ 32.0 25%

Latin America 2.7 2.8 4%

Other Markets total $ 28.3 $ 34.8 23%

This increase was primarily due to a 25% increase in revenue in Europe, which included the 17% favorable impact of 

currency f luctuations in 2003 compared to 2002.

Gross profit

Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased to 82.1% in 2003 compared to 80.2% in 2002. Our gross profit was 

positively impacted by the divestiture of our professional employer organization, the decline in low margin revenue from 

Big Planet, a new personal care manufacturing plant in China and the positive impact of f luctuations in foreign currency 

in 2003 compared to 2002.  

Selling expenses

Selling expenses as a percentage of revenue increased to 41.3% in 2003 from 39.6% in 2002. In U.S. dollars, selling ex-

penses increased to $407.1 million in 2003 from $382.2 million in 2002. The increase in selling expenses was due to the 

increase of sales employee labor and commission expenses in China. In addition, selling expenses as a percent of revenue 

increased due to the divestiture of our professional employer organization, which paid no commissions, and by the introduc-

tion of leadership incentives in Japan and in the United States. 

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue remained nearly level at 29.4% in 2003 from 29.6% in 

2002. In U.S. dollars, general and administrative expenses increased to $289.9 million in 2003 from $285.2 million in 

2002. The U.S. dollar increase during 2003 in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to the incremental 

costs associated with the expansion of retail operations in China in 2003, as well as the negative impact of foreign cur-

rency f luctuations on operating expenses in 2003. These increases were somewhat offset by the reduction in labor ex-

penses resulting from our restructuring that occurred in the third quarter of 2003. 

Restructuring and other charges

Restructuring and other charges of $5.6 million recorded in the third quarter of 2003 include $5.1 million of expenses 

resulting from an early retirement program and other employee separation charges. As a result of these employee termina-
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tions, our overall headcount was reduced by approximately 130 employees, the majority of which were employees at our 

U.S. headquarters. These restructuring expenses consisted primarily of severance and other compensation charges. The 

savings associated with these reductions in force have been refocused on revenue growth initiatives throughout the com-

pany. In connection with these restructuring charges, we also completed the divestiture of our professional employer orga-

nization operated through Big Planet resulting in a charge of approximately $0.5 million.

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net was $0.4 million of income in 2003 compared to $2.9 million of expense in 2002. This increase 

in other income (expense), net of $3.3 million is primarily related to the foreign exchange f luctuations to the U.S. dollar on 

the translation of yen based bank debt and other foreign denominated intercompany balances into U.S. dollars for financial 

reporting purposes. 

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes increased to $39.9 million in 2003 from $38.1 million in 2002. This increase was largely due to 

the increase in operating income as compared to the prior year. The effective tax rate remained at 37.0% of pre-tax income 

for 2003 and 2002. 

Net income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income increased to $67.9 million in 2003 from $64.8 million in 2002. Earnings 

per share were positively impacted by the repurchase of 10.8 million shares of our Class A common stock, which occurred 

in October 2003.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Historically, our principal needs for funds have been for operating expenses including selling expenses, working capital 

(principally inventory purchases), capital expenditures and the development of operations in new markets. We have gener-

ally relied on cash f low from operations to meet our cash needs and business objectives without incurring long-term debt 

to fund operating activities. 

We typically generate positive cash f low from operations due to favorable gross margins, the variable nature of selling 

expenses (which constitute a significant percentage of operating expenses), and minimal capital requirements. We gener-

ated $130.4 million in cash from operations in 2004 compared to $109.0 million in 2003. This increase in cash generated 

from operations in 2004 compared to the prior-year period is primarily related to the increase in net income, which includes 

higher non-cash amortization charges in 2004, and the reduction in cash payments for income taxes during 2004 compared 

to the prior year. 

As of December 31, 2004, working capital was $117.4 million compared to $149.3 million as of December 31, 2003. 

Our working capital decreased primarily due to an increase in accrued selling expenses as a result of higher December 

revenue for the year ended December 31, 2004, an increase in accrued contingent liabilities and a decrease in our current 

deferred tax assets at December 31, 2004 due to the timing of payments from foreign affiliates, which we do not expect to 

recur in future years. Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2004 were $109.9 million and were $122.6 million at 

December 31, 2003. Our cash balance was positively impacted by $130.4 million in cash f lows from operations during 2004 

as well as $16.6 million from the exercise of employee stock options and was offset by the use of approximately $35.0 mil-

lion for capital expenditures, $72.3 million for repurchases of shares of our common stock, $22.6 million for the payment 

of dividends, $16.2 million for the repayment of long-term debt and $10.2 million of net purchases of investments.

Our capital expenditures have been primarily focused on:

• purchases of BioPhotonic Scanners;

• computer systems and software; and

• the build-out of manufacturing facilities and additional retail stores in 

China, as well as other leasehold improvements in our various markets.

Capital expenditures were $35.0 million in 2004, and we anticipate capital expenditures in 2005 of approximately $40.0 

million to $50.0 million relating primarily to the items listed above.

We maintain a $25.0 million revolving credit facility that expires in May 2007. Drawings on this revolving credit 

facility may be used for working capital, capital expenditures and other purposes including repurchases of our outstanding 

shares of Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2004, there were no outstanding balances under our revolving 

credit facility. 

We also have a $125.0 million multi-currency private uncommitted shelf facility with Prudential Investment Manage-

ment, Inc. As of December 31, 2004, we had $70.0 million outstanding under this shelf facility, $5.0 million of which is 
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included in the current portion of long-term debt. This long-term debt is U.S. dollar denominated, bears interest of ap-

proximately 4.5% per annum and is amortized in two tranches over five and seven years beginning in October 2004 and 

April 2006, respectively. In February 2005, we made an additional borrowing under the Shelf Facility in Japanese yen 

denominated senior notes in the amount of 3.1 billion yen, or approximately $30.0 million as of February 28, 2005. These 

notes bear interest of approximately 1.7% per annum and are due April 2014, with principal payments beginning in April 

2008. Our long-term debt also includes the long-term portion of Japanese yen denominated ten-year senior notes issued to 

the Prudential Insurance Company of America in 2000. The notes bear interest at an effective rate of 3.0% per annum and 

are due October 2010, with annual principal payments that began in October 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the outstand-

ing balance on the notes was 8.3 billion Japanese yen, or $81.2 million, $13.5 million of which is included in the current 

portion of long-term debt. The Japanese notes and the revolving and shelf credit facilities are secured by guarantees issued 

by our material subsidiaries or by pledges of 65% to 100% of the outstanding stock of our material subsidiaries. 

Since August 1998, our board of directors has authorized us to repurchase up to $110.0 million of our outstanding 

shares of Class A common stock under a stock repurchase program, which allows us to repurchase our shares on the open 

market or in private transactions. This includes an additional $20.0 million authorized by the board of directors in Febru-

ary 2005. The repurchases are used primarily for our equity incentive plans and strategic initiatives. During the year 

ended December 31, 2004 we repurchased approximately 0.1 million shares of Class A common stock under this program 

for an aggregate amount of approximately $1.3 million. Between August 1998 and December 31, 2004, we had repurchased 

a total of approximately 8.8 million shares of Class A common stock under this program for an aggregate price of approxi-

mately $82.9 million.

On July 30, 2004, we purchased approximately 3.1 million shares of common stock from members of our original 

stockholder group for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $71.0 million, or $22.62 per share. The purchase was 

made pursuant to an option granted in connection with the recapitalization transaction that occurred in October 2003, and 

we used existing cash balances to pay for the repurchase. The purchase price was determined based on the agreement entered 

into in October 2003, which provided for a purchase price equal to 94% of the lower of (a) the closing sales price on the 

New York Stock Exchange on the date the notice of exercise was given, and (b) the average closing sales price over the im-

mediately preceding 15 trading days. A special committee of independent directors of the board of directors made the 

decision to exercise the option. The special committee engaged its own independent financial and legal advisors. We still 

have a similar option to acquire approximately 300,000 shares from one of our original shareholders. Since 1998, we have 

repurchased an aggregate of approximately 22.7 million shares pursuant to our stock repurchase program and other pri-

vately negotiated transactions. 

During each quarter of 2004, our board of directors declared cash dividends of $0.08 per share on our Class A common 

stock. These quarterly cash dividends totaled approximately $22.6 million and were paid during 2004 to stockholders of 

record in 2004. In February 2005, the board of directors declared a dividend that was paid in March 2005 of $0.09 per 

share for Class A common stock. Currently, we anticipate that our board of directors will continue to declare quarterly cash 

dividends and that the cash f lows from operations will be sufficient to fund our future dividend payments. Assuming a 

quarterly dividend declaration of $0.09 per share in 2005, dividends for the year should total approximately $25.2 million 

based upon the number of shares currently outstanding. However, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion 

of our board of directors and will depend upon various factors, including our net earnings, financial condition, cash require-

ments, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. 

We believe we have sufficient liquidity to be able to meet our obligations on both a short- and long-term basis. We 

currently believe that existing cash balances together with future cash f lows from operations and existing lines of credit 

will be adequate to fund our cash needs. The majority of our historical expenses have been variable in nature and as such, 

a potential reduction in the level of revenue would reduce our cash f low needs. Within the past year our capital needs have 

increased due to the retail store model in China including manufacturing facilities and the manufacture of BioPhotonic 

Scanners. In the event that our current cash balances, future cash f low from operations and current lines of credit are not 

sufficient to meet our obligations or strategic needs, we would consider raising additional funds in the debt or equity mar-

kets or restructuring our current debt obligations. Additionally, we would consider realigning our strategic plans including 

a reduction in capital spending, stock repurchases or dividend payments. 
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

The following table sets forth payments due by period for fixed contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Total 2005 2006–2007 2008–2009 Thereafter

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Long-term debt obligations (1) $ 151,241 $ 18,540 $ 57,080 $ 52,080 $ 23,541

Capital lease obligations — — — — —

Operating lease obligations (2) 68,843 12,989 25,347 24,942 5,565

Purchase obligations (3) 65,925 51,511 9,732 1,105 3,577

Other long-term liabilities refl ected on 
the balance sheet — (4)

Total $ 286,009 $ 83,040 $ 92,159 $ 78,127 $ 32,683

(1)  Long-term debt excludes estimated interest payments under these obligations since a significant portion of our long-term debt is Japanese 
yen denominated. We anticipate interest expense on this long-term debt to be similar to our 2004 interest expense, which was $5.9 million. 
In February 2005, we made an additional borrowing under the Shelf Facility in Japanese yen denominated senior notes in the amount of 3.1 
billion yen (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(2)  Operating leases include corporate office and warehouse space with two entities that are owned by certain officers and directors of our com-
pany who are also founding shareholders. Total payments under these leases were $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 with 
remaining long-term obligations under these leases of $23.5 million. 

(3)  We are also party to acquisition agreements related to the BioPhotonic Scanner pursuant to which contingent payments of up to $5.5 million 
and 937,500 shares of our Class A common stock may be made if certain operating and revenue targets are met, based on the BioPhotonic 
Scanner in driving results. These amounts are not included in the table above.

(4)  Other long-term liabilities reflected on the balance sheet primarily consist of long-term tax related balances, which totaled $29.9 million as 
of December 31, 2004.

In October 2004, we were assessed by the Yokohama customs authorities in Japan a total of approximately $9.0 million, 

net of any recovery of consumption taxes, for duties on products imported into Japan from October 2002 through October 

2003. The value and methodology we used for determining the amount of duties payable for these periods is consistent with 

prior years and has been previously reviewed on several occasions by the audit division of the Japan customs authorities, 

and reviewed and approved by the Valuation Department of the Yokohama customs authority. As such, we believe the as-

sessment is improper and we have filed letters of protest with Yokohama customs. We expect to receive a reply within the 

next couple of months. If necessary, we will appeal this issue to the Ministry of Finance in Japan. In order to file our letter 

of protest with Yokohama customs, we were required to pay the amount that was assessed. In addition, the Audit Division 

of Yokohama customs has recently completed an audit of the period from November 2003 through October 2004. Although 

we have not yet been informed of the results of this audit, we may be assessed for additional duties related to this period, 

which we anticipate would be a similar amount to the prior assessment. We would file letters of protest with Yokohama 

customs in a similar manner in case of any such assessment. 

SEASONALITY AND CYCLICALITY

In addition to general economic factors, we are impacted by seasonal factors and trends such as major cultural events and 

vacation patterns. For example, most Asian markets celebrate their respective local New Year in the first quarter, which 

generally has a negative impact on that quarter. We believe that direct selling in Japan, the United States and Europe is 

also generally negatively impacted during the month of August, which is in our third quarter, when many individuals, 

including our distributors, traditionally take vacations.

We have experienced rapid revenue growth in certain new markets following commencement of operations. This initial 

rapid growth has often been followed by a short period of stable or declining revenue, then followed by renewed growth 

fueled by product introductions, an increase in the number of active distributors and increased distributor productivity. 

The contraction following initial rapid growth has been more pronounced in certain new markets, due to other factors such 

as business or economic conditions or distributor distractions outside the market.
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DISTRIBUTOR INFORMATION

The following table provides information concerning the number of active and executive distributors as of the dates indicated. 

Active distributors are those distributors and preferred customers who were resident in the countries in which we operated 

and purchased products for resale or personal consumption during the three months ended as of the date indicated. An 

executive distributor is an active distributor who has achieved required monthly personal and group sales volumes. 

As of December 31, 2002 As of December 31, 2003 As of December 31, 2004

Active Executive Active Executive Active Executive

North Asia 322,000 17,668 322,000 17,013 337,000 16,637

Greater China (1) 73,000 3,564 187,000 5,991 229,000 8,827

North America 73,000 2,693 113,000 2,861 134,000 3,099

South Asia/Pacifi c 66,000 2,972 69,000 2,175 74,000 2,076

Other Markets 32,000 1,018 34,000 1,091 46,000 1,377

Total 566,000 27,915 725,000 29,131 820,000 32,016

(1)  Following the opening of our retail business in China during 2003, active distributors include 117,000 and 147,000 preferred customers in 
China and executive distributors include 3,100 and 5,437 employed, full-time sales representatives for the years ended December 31, 2003 
and 2004, respectively.

QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following table sets forth selected unaudited quarterly data for the periods shown:

2003 2004

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

(U.S. dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Revenue $ 219.6 $ 240.7 $ 250.2 $ 275.9 $ 264.0 $ 284.2 $ 283.3 $ 306.4

Gross profi t 178.0 195.4 206.5 230.0 220.1 236.7 235.7 254.2

Operating income 19.7 25.7 24.5 37.4 23.8 35.0 33.6 33.4

Net income 12.8 16.8 15.1 23.1 14.5 20.3 20.9 22.0

Net income per share:

Basic 0.16 0.21 0.19 0.32 0.20 0.28 0.30 0.32

Diluted 0.16 0.21 0.19 0.31 0.20 0.28 0.29 0.31

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

During the first quarter of 2004, we adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, 

an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” This accounting standard became effective during the first quarter of 2004. The adoption 

of this standard did not have a significant effect on our financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the expensing of em-

ployee options as of the beginning of the first interim reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Consequently, we 

will begin expensing employee options during the third quarter of 2005. Until that time, we will continue to account for 

stock-based compensation granted to employees according to the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. We are currently 

evaluating the effect of this accounting standard on our financial statements. 

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs” which requires certain inventory related costs 

to be expensed as incurred. This accounting standard is effective January 1, 2006. We are currently evaluating the effect 

of this accounting standard on our financial statements.

CURRENCY RISK AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

A majority of our revenue and many of our expenses are recognized primarily outside of the United States, except for inven-

tory purchases which are primarily transacted in U.S. dollars from vendors in the United States. The local currency of each 

of our subsidiary’s primary markets is considered the functional currency. All revenue and expenses are translated at 

weighted-average exchange rates for the periods reported. Therefore, our reported revenue and earnings will be positively 

impacted by a weakening of the U.S. dollar and will be negatively impacted by a strengthening of the U.S. dollar. Media 

reports have indicated that the Chinese government may begin to allow the RMB to f loat more freely against the U.S. 
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dollar and other major currencies. In that event, a strengthening of the RMB would benefit our reported revenue and prof-

its and a weakening of the RMB would negatively impact reported revenue and profits. Given the uncertainty of exchange 

rate f luctuations, we cannot estimate the effect of these f luctuations on our future business, product pricing and results of 

operations or financial condition.

We seek to reduce our exposure to f luctuations in foreign currency exchange rates through the use of foreign currency 

exchange contracts, through intercompany loans of foreign currency, and through our Japanese yen denominated debt. We 

do not use derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. We regularly monitor our foreign currency 

risks and periodically take measures to reduce the impact of foreign exchange f luctuations on our operating results.

Our foreign currency derivatives are comprised of over-the-counter forward contracts with major international finan-

cial institutions. As of December 31, 2004, we had $82.0 million of these contracts with expiration dates through Decem-

ber 2005. All of these contracts were denominated in Japanese yen. For the year ended December 31, 2004, we recorded 

losses of $5.0 million in operating income, and losses of $3.2 million, net of tax, in other comprehensive income related to 

the fair market valuation of our outstanding forward contracts. Because of our foreign exchange contracts at December 31, 

2004, the impact of a 10% appreciation or 10% depreciation of the U.S. dollar against the Japanese yen would not represent 

a material potential loss in fair value, earnings, or cash f lows against these contracts. This potential loss does not consider 

the underlying foreign currency transaction or translation exposures to which we are subject.

Following are the weighted-average currency exchange rates of U.S. $1 into local currency for each of our interna-

tional or foreign markets in which revenue exceeded U.S. $5.0 million for at least one of the quarters listed:

2003 2004

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4

Japan (1) 118.9 118.5 117.3 108.7 107.3 109.6 109.9 105.6

Taiwan 34.6 34.7 34.2 34.0 33.3 33.3 33.9 32.9

Hong Kong 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8 7.8

South Korea 1,200.2 1,208.7 1,174.6 1,182.1 1,171.7 1,162.0 1,154.8 1,091.6

Singapore 1.7 1.8 1.8 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7 1.7

Malaysia 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8 3.8

Thailand 42.8 42.2 41.3 39.8 39.2 39.8 41.3 40.2

China 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3 8.3

(1) As of February 28, 2005 the exchange rate of U.S. $1 into the Japanese yen was approximately 104.5.

NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

With the exception of historical facts, the statements contained in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations, are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Liti-

gation Reform Act of 1995 which reflect our current expectations and beliefs regarding our future results of operations, 

performance and achievements. 

These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties and are based upon assumptions and beliefs that may not mate-

rialize. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning:

• our belief that we have sufficient liquidity to be able to meet our obligations on both a short-and long-term basis, 

and that existing cash together with cash f low from operations and existing lines of credit will be adequate to 

fund cash needs;

• the expectation that we will spend $40.0 million to $50.0 million for capital expenditures during 2005;

• our plans to manufacture more products in China for export;

• the anticipation that we will continue to declare quarterly cash dividends and that cash f lows from operations will 

be sufficient to pay future dividends; 

• our plans to continue to promote certain distributor initiatives and tools, such as monthly product subscription 

programs and the BioPhotonic Scanner program; 

• our anticipation that new direct selling regulations will be adopted in China in the next several months, and our 

plans to add additional retail stores throughout the country in order to obtain a direct selling license under the 

new regulations;

• our belief that we will be able to obtain a direct selling license under the anticipated new direct selling regula-

tions in China;

• our belief that the anticipated new direct selling regulations in China will positively impact our business there;
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• our expectation that the self-manufacture of product will result in reduced cost of goods sold, and our plans to 

manufacture more products in China for export;

• our anticipation that the launch of Pharmanex products in China will have a negative impact on Hong Kong and 

Taiwan revenue in 2005; 

• our anticipation that we will incur expenses of approximately $6.5 million in 2005 related to a global distributor 

convention we plan to hold later in 2005;

• our plans to commence operations in Indonesia and Russia;

• our anticipation that gross margins as well as selling expenses as a percentage of revenue will each be slightly lower 

in 2005 compared to 2004 as a result of our continued expansion of the BioPhotonic Scanner program around the 

world; and

• our anticipation that the remittance of permanently reinvested earnings related to our foreign operations will be 

postponed indefinitely.

In addition, when used in this report, the words or phrases “will likely result,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “will continue,” 

“intend,” “plan,” “believe” and similar expressions are intended to help identify forward-looking statements.

We wish to caution readers that our operating results are subject to various risks and uncertainties that could cause 

our actual results and outcomes to differ materially from those discussed or anticipated. Reference is made to the risks and 

uncertainties described below and factors described in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K (which contains a 

more detailed discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to our business). We also wish to advise readers not to place 

any undue reliance on the forward-looking statements contained in this report, which reflect our beliefs and expectations 

only as of the date of this report. We assume no obligation to update or revise these forward-looking statements to reflect 

new events or circumstances or any changes in our beliefs or expectations. Some of the risks and uncertainties that might 

cause actual results to differ from those anticipated include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a) Our expansion of operations in China is subject to risks and uncertainties. We continue to be subject to significant 

regulatory scrutiny and have experienced challenges including interruption of sales activities at certain stores and 

fines being paid in several cases, which in the aggregate have been less than 1% of revenue in China. Because of 

restrictions on direct selling activities, we have implemented a modified business model for this market using retail 

stores and an employed sales force. We have, at times, received guidance from local regulators on conducting our 

operations including limiting the size of our training meetings, controlling the activities of our sales employees, 

controlling the distribution of product outside of our stores, keeping the number of sales employees at reasonable 

levels and limiting the involvement of our overseas distributors. While we continuously update our operating model 

to address this guidance, we believe we could experience similar challenges in the future as we expand operations in 

China and continue to work with regulators to help them understand our business model. Our operations in China 

may be modified or otherwise harmed by regulatory changes, subjective interpretations of laws or an inability to 

work effectively with national and local government agencies. In addition, as our number of sales representatives 

continues to rapidly grow we could face increasing risks that improper actions by these local sales employees, or 

any overseas distributors, in violation of local laws or our policies could result in regulatory investigations and 

penalties that could harm our business. 

(b) Chinese regulators have indicated that they intend to publish new direct selling regulations within the next several 

months. There can be no assurance that these regulations will be adopted or, if adopted, that they will benefit us. 

While we anticipate we will be able to obtain a direct selling license under any new proposed regulations, there 

can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain such a license should we apply. There has been some uncertainty 

and confusion regarding the direction of the new regulations and the type of restrictions or requirements that may 

be imposed under such regulations. Although we currently do not operate a direct selling business in China, our 

future growth could be harmed if the regulations are not adopted or are unfavorable, if the adoption or implementa-

tion of new regulations are delayed further than anticipated, or if we are unable to obtain a license for direct sell-

ing under these regulations. In the event the new regulations prevent us from offering a distributor compensation 

model comparable to what we offer in other markets, our business may be negatively impacted. In addition, if the 

Chinese government adopts new direct selling regulations, these regulations could negatively impact our current 

business model in China if they incorporate changes that impose restrictions on us, or if interpretations of existing 

laws change as a result of such new regulations which require us to make changes to our business model in ways 

that could harm our business in this market.

(c) As with any new technology, we have experienced technical issues in developing and manufacturing the BioPhotonic 

Scanner. In addition, in March 2003 the FDA questioned the status of the BioPhotonic Scanner as a non-medical 

device. We subsequently filed an application with the FDA to have it classified as a non-medical device. The FDA 

has not yet acted on our application. There are various factors that could determine whether the BioPhotonic Scanner 

is a medical device including the claims that we or our distributors make about it. We are facing similar uncertainties 

and regulatory issues in other markets with respect to the status of the BioPhotonic Scanner as a non-medical device 
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and the claims that can be made in using it. A determination in any of these markets that it is a medical device or that 

distributors are using it to make medical claims, this could negatively impact our plans for or use of the BioPhotonic 

Scanner in such market. If the launch or use of this tool is delayed or otherwise inhibited by regulatory issues or 

actions, or if we are unable to deliver BioPhotonic Scanners that perform to a standard expected by our distributors, or 

if we are unable to make a sufficient number of BioPhotonic Scanners available to interested distributors at reasonable 

lease rates, this could dampen distributor enthusiasm and harm our business. In addition, if distributors make claims 

regarding the BioPhotonic Scanner outside of claims approved by us, or use it in a manner not authorized by us, this 

could result in regulatory actions against our business. We are also party to certain litigation regarding the scope of 

our license to the technology utilized in the BioPhotonic Scanner. An adverse ruling in this matter could limit the 

ability of distributors who are health professionals to utilize the BioPhotonic Scanner.

(d) We recently have experienced local currency revenue declines in Japan. Because our Japan business accounts for a 

majority of our revenue, our business could be harmed if planned initiatives are not successful and do not generate 

renewed growth or outside factors negatively affect our business in Japan. In particular, risks associated with the 

BioPhotonic Scanner as discussed herein, increased competitive factors, and any inability to execute our strategies 

could negatively impact our business. In addition, if the BioPhotonic Scanner does not generate distributor excite-

ment or attract new distributors or customers, this could harm our operating results in Japan. 

(e) Because a substantial majority of our sales are generated in Asia, particularly Japan, significant variations in operat-

ing results including revenue, gross margin, and earnings from those expected could be caused by:

• renewed or sustained weakness of Asian economies or consumer confidence;

• weakening of foreign currencies, particularly the Japanese yen; or

• political unrest or uncertainty in certain Asian markets.

(f) The network marketing and nutritional supplement industries are subject to various laws and regulations throughout 

our markets, many of which involve a high level of subjectivity and are inherently fact-based and subject to inter-

pretation. Recent negative publicity concerning ephedra (which we have never sold) and other supplements with 

controversial ingredients has spurred efforts to change existing regulations or adopt new regulations in order to 

impose further restrictions and regulatory control over the nutritional supplement industry. If our existing business 

practices or products, or any new initiatives or products, are challenged or found to contravene any of these laws by 

any governmental agency or other third party, or if there are any changes in regulations applicable to our business or 

any of our nutritional products that limit our ability to market such products, our revenue and profitability may 

be harmed. 

(g) Our ability to retain key and executive level distributors or to sponsor new executive distributors is critical to our 

success. Because our products are distributed exclusively through our distributors and we compete with other direct 

selling companies in attracting distributors, our operating results could be adversely affected if our existing and 

new business opportunities and products do not generate sufficient enthusiasm and economic incentive to retain 

our existing distributors or to sponsor new distributors on a sustained basis.

(h) Due to the international nature of our business, we are subject from time to time to audits by the foreign taxing 

authorities of the various jurisdictions in which we conduct business throughout the world. These audits some-

times result in challenges by such taxing authorities as to our methodologies used in determining our income tax, 

duties, customs, and other amounts owed in connection with the importation and distribution of our products. To 

the extent we are unable to successfully defend ourselves against such challenges, we may be required to pay as-

sessments and penalties and increased duties, which may, individually or in the aggregate, negatively impact our 

gross margins and operating results. 

(i) Production difficulties and quality control problems could harm our business. Occasionally, we have experienced 

production difficulties with respect to our products, including the delivery of products that do not meet our quality 

control standards. These quality problems have resulted in the past, and could result in the future, in stock outages 

or shortages in our markets with respect to such product, harming our sales and creating inventory write-offs for 

unusable product. In addition, these issues can negatively impact distributor confidence as well as potentially invite 

additional governmental scrutiny in our various markets.
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NU SKIN ENTERPRISES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

December 31,

2003 2004

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 122,568 $ 109,865

Accounts receivable 15,054 16,057

Current investments — 10,230

Inventories, net 83,338 87,474

Prepaid expenses and other 60,163 44,723

281,123 268,349

Property and equipment, net 60,528 76,511

Goodwill 118,768 112,446

Other intangible assets, net 67,572 79,005

Other assets 63,068 73,426

Total assets $ 591,059 $ 609,737

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 18,816 $ 25,182

Accrued expenses 95,068 107,226

Current portion of long-term debt 17,915 18,540

131,799 150,948

Long-term debt 147,488 132,701

Other liabilities 21,524 29,855

Total liabilities 300,811 313,504

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9 and 19)

Stockholders’ equity

Class A common stock—500 million shares authorized, 
$.001 par value, 90.6 million shares issued 91 91

Additional paid-in capital 148,636 165,177

Treasury stock, at cost—19.9 million and 20.9 million shares (216,847) (273,721)

 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (70,849) (71,606)

 Retained earnings 431,615 477,912

 Deferred compensation (2,398) (1,620)

290,248 296,233

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 591,059 $ 609,737

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NU SKIN ENTERPRISES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Revenue $ 964,067 $ 986,457 $ 1,137,864

Cost of sales 190,868 176,545 191,211

Gross profi t 773,199 809,912 946,653

Operating expenses:

Selling expenses 382,159 407,088 487,631

General and administrative expenses 285,229 289,925 333,263

Restructuring and other charges — 5,592 —

Total operating expenses 667,388 702,605 820,894

Operating income 105,811 107,307 125,759

Other income (expense), net (2,886) 432 (3,618)

Income before provision for income taxes 102,925 107,739 122,141

Provision for income taxes 38,082 39,863 44,467

Net income $ 64,843 $ 67,876 $ 77,674

Net income per share:

Basic $ 0.79 $ 0.86 $ 1.10

Diluted $ 0.78 $ 0.85 $ 1.07

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (000s):

Basic 81,731 78,637 70,734

Diluted 83,128 79,541 72,627

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NU SKIN ENTERPRISES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Class A 
Common Stock

Class B 
Common Stock

Additional 
Paid in Capital

Balance at January 1, 2002 $ 42 $ 49 $ 151,379

Net income — — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — —

Net unrealized losses on foreign currency cash fl ow hedges — — —

Less: Reclassifi cation adjustment for realized gains in current earnings — — —

Total comprehensive income

Repurchase of Class A common stock (Note 10) — — —

Conversion of shares (Note 10) 4 (4) —

Purchase of long-term assets (Note 20) — — 936

Exercise of distributor and employee  stock options (182,000 shares) — — (2,005)

Forfeiture of stock options — — (762)

Cash dividends — — —

Balance at December 31, 2002 46 45 149,548

Net income — — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — —

Net unrealized losses on foreign currency cash fl ow hedges — — —

Less: Reclassifi cation adjustment for realized losses in current earnings — — —

Total comprehensive income

Repurchase of Class A common stock (Note 10) — — —

Conversion of shares (Note 10) 45 (45) —

Issuance of employee stock awards — — 3,113

Amortization of deferred compensation — — —

Exercise of distributor and employee stock options (1,258,000 shares) — — (4,025)

Cash dividends — — —

Balance at December 31, 2003 91 — 148,636

Net income — — —

Foreign currency translation adjustment — — —

Net unrealized losses on foreign currency cash fl ow hedges — — —

Less: Reclassifi cation adjustment for realized losses in current earnings — — —

Total comprehensive income

Repurchase of Class A common stock (Note 10) — — —

Amortization of deferred compensation — — —

Purchase of long-term assets (Note 20) — — 4,279

Reduction in carrying value of intangible asset — — —

Exercise of employee stock options (1,834,000 shares) — — 3,814

Tax benefi t of options exercised — — 8,448

Cash dividends — — —

Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 91 $ — $ 165,177

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Treasury 
Stock

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Loss

Retained 
Earnings

Deferred 
Compensation Total

$ (62,435) $ (49,485) $ 340,340 $ — $ 379,890

— — 64,843 — 64,843

— (10,031) — — (10,031)

— (6,567) — — (6,567)

— (2,905) — — (2,905)

45,340

(20,586) — — — (20,586)

— — — — —

— — — — 936

3,266 — — — 1,261

— — — — (762)

— — (19,593) — (19,593)

(79,755) (68,988) 385,590 — 386,486

— — 67,876 — 67,876

— (1,736) — — (1,736)

— (3,171) — — (3,171)

— 3,046 — — 3,046

66,015

(150,009) — — — (150,009)

— — — — —

— — — (3,113) —

— — — 715 715

12,917 — — — 8,892

— — (21,851) — (21,851)

(216,847) (70,849) 431,615 (2,398) 290,248

— — 77,674 — 77,674

— (1,402) — — (1,402)

— (2,590) — — (2,590)

— 3,235 — — 3,235

76,917

(72,311) — — — (72,311)

— — — 778 778

2,624 — — — 6,903

— — (8,750) — (8,750)

12,813 — — — 16,627

— — — — 8,448

— — (22,627) — (22,627)

$ (273,721) $ (71,606) $ 477,912 $ (1,620) $ 296,233
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NU SKIN ENTERPRISES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Cash fl ows from operating activities:

Net income $ 64,843 $ 67,876 $ 77,674

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities:

Depreciation and amortization 21,602 22,369 27,883

Amortization of deferred compensation — 715 778

(Gain) loss on sale of assets (1,328) 525 —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 404 3,860 (1,003)

Related parties receivable 5,971 — —

Inventories, net (4,051) 4,968 (4,136)

Prepaid expenses and other (3,674) 11,714 21,869

Other assets 12,473 (7,965) (10,372)

Accounts payable 3,259 824 6,366

Accrued expenses 14,160 1,176 10,910

Related parties payable (6,967) — —

Other liabilities 4,424 2,964 381

Net cash provided by operating activities 111,116 109,026 130,350

Cash fl ows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment (19,026) (23,518) (34,996)

Proceeds on investment sales 5,200 70,775 185,015

Purchases of investments (20,750) (52,800) (195,245)

Purchase of long-term assets (7,505) — (2,953)

Net cash used in investing activities (42,081) (5,543) (48,179)

Cash fl ows from fi nancing activities:

Payments of cash dividends (19,593) (21,851) (22,627)

Repurchase of shares of common stock (14,158) (150,009) (72,311)

Exercise of distributor and employee stock options 1,261 8,892 16,627

Payments on long-term debt — — (16,241)

Proceeds from long-term debt — 75,000 —

Proceeds from revolving credit facility — 20,000 —

Payments on revolving credit facility — (20,000) —

Net cash used in fi nancing activities (32,490) (87,968) (94,552)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (7,677) 4,687 (322)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 28,868 20,202 (12,703)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 73,498 102,366 122,568

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 102,366 $ 122,568 $ 109,865

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. THE COMPANY

Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc. (the “Company”) is a leading, global direct selling company that develops and distributes pre-

mium quality, innovative personal care products and nutritional supplements that are sold worldwide under the Nu Skin 

and Pharmanex brands. The Company also markets technology-related products and services under the Big Planet brand. 

The Company reports revenue from five geographic regions: North Asia, which consists of Japan and South Korea; Greater 

China, which consists of China, Hong Kong and Taiwan; North America, which consists of the United States and Canada; 

South Asia/Pacific, which consists of Australia, Brunei, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Philippines, Singapore and Thailand; 

and Other Markets, which consists of Brazil, Europe, Guatemala, Israel, and Mexico (the Company’s subsidiaries operating 

in these countries are collectively referred to as the “Subsidiaries”). 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and the Subsidiaries. All significant intercom-

pany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States required management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of rev-

enue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates include reserves for product returns, obsolete inven-

tory, and taxes. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year balances in order to conform to the current year presentation.

Current investments

Current investments consist entirely of auction rate municipal bonds classified as available-for-sale securities. The Com-

pany, through its dealers, purchases and sells these securities at par value, and records them at cost, which approximates 

fair market value due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset every 7 to 35 days, and despite the long-term 

nature of their stated contractual maturities, along with the Company’s investment policy and practice to only invest in 

high investment grade securities, the Company has the ability to quickly liquidate these securities. As a result, the Com-

pany has no cumulative gross unrealized holding gains (losses) or gross realized gains (losses) from its current investments. 

Interest income generated from these current investments is recorded in other income. 

Prior to December 31, 2004, such investments had been classified as cash and cash equivalents. As of December 31, 

2004, the Company has revised its classification to report these securities as current investments in a separate line item on 

its consolidated balance sheet. The Company has also made corresponding adjustments to its consolidated statement of cash 

f lows for all periods presented, to reflect the gross purchases and sales of these securities as investing activities rather than 

as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of merchandise purchased for resale and are stated at the lower of cost or market, using 

the first-in, first-out method. The Company had reserves for obsolete inventory totaling $5.7 million, $5.4 million and 

$5.2 million as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. 
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Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 

useful lives:

Furniture and fixtures 5–7 years

Computers and equipment 3–5 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful life or lease term

BioPhotonic Scanners 3 years

Vehicles 3–5 years

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Goodwill and other intangible assets 

Under the provisions of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible 

Assets (“SFAS 142”), the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are no longer amortized, but 

instead are tested for impairment at least annually. The Company’s intangible assets with finite lives are recorded at cost and 

are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values, and are reviewed for impairment 

in accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (Note 5). In addition, 

the Company is required to make judgments regarding and periodically assesses the useful life of its intangible assets. 

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when products are shipped, which is when title and risk of loss pass to independent distributors who 

are the Company’s customers. A reserve for product returns is accrued based on historical experience totaling $1.1 million, 

$1.4 million and $2.5 million as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. The Company generally requires cash 

or credit card payment at the point of sale. The Company has determined that no allowance for doubtful accounts is neces-

sary. Amounts received prior to shipment and title passage to distributors are recorded as deferred revenue. The global 

compensation plan for the Company’s distributors generally does not provide rebates or selling discounts to distributors 

who purchase its products and services and classifies selling discounts, if any, as a reduction of revenue.

Advertising expense

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense incurred for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 

and 2004 totaled approximately $2.8 million, $1.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively. 

Research and development

The Company’s research and development activities are conducted primarily through its Pharmanex division. Research and 

development costs are expensed as incurred and totaled $6.9 million, $6.4 million and $7.7 million in 2002, 2003 and 

2004, respectively. 

Income taxes

The Company follows the liability method in accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and li-

abilities are determined based on the differences between financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 

measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The 

Company has netted deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by jurisdiction as of December 31, 2004 and reclassified 

prior-period balances to conform to the December 31, 2004 presentation. Valuation allowances are established when neces-

sary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be ultimately realized. The Company accounts for any income 

tax contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

Net income per share

Net income per share is computed based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the periods 

presented. Additionally, diluted earnings per share data gives effect to all potentially dilutive common shares that were 

outstanding during the periods presented (Note 10). Earnings per share in 2004 were positively impacted by the repurchase 

of 10.8 million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock in October 2003 and the repurchase of 3.1 million shares of 

the Company’s Class A common stock in July 2004. 
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Foreign currency translation

Most of the Company’s business operations occur outside the United States. The local currency of each of the Company’s 

subsidiary’s primary markets is considered its functional currency. All assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars 

at exchange rates existing at the balance sheet dates, revenue and expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange 

rates, and stockholders’ equity is recorded at historical exchange rates. The resulting foreign currency translation adjust-

ments are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets, and transaction gains 

and losses are included in other income and expense in the consolidated financial statements.

Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying value of financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 

notes payable approximate fair values. The carrying amount of long-term debt approximates fair value because the appli-

cable interest rates approximate current market rates. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on 

relevant market information.

Stock-based compensation

The Company measures compensation expense for its stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described in 

Note 11. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”), encourages, but does not require, com-

panies to record compensation cost for stock-based employee compensation plans based on the fair market value of options 

granted. The Company has chosen to account for stock- based compensation granted to employees using the intrinsic value 

method prescribed in Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” 

and related interpretations. Accordingly, because the grant price equals the market price on the date of grant for options 

issued by the Company, no compensation expense is recognized for stock options issued to employees. However, stock-based 

compensation granted to non-employees, such as the Company’s independent distributors and consultants, is accounted for 

in accordance with SFAS 123. On December 31, 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 

No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148”), which amended SFAS 123. 

SFAS 148 requires more prominent and frequent disclosures about the effects of stock-based compensation. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the expensing of em-

ployee options as of the beginning of the first interim reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Consequently, the 

Company will begin expensing employee options during its third quarter of 2005 and is currently evaluating the effect of 

this accounting standard on its financial statements. Until that time, the Company will continue to account for its stock-

based compensation granted to employees according to the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. Had compensation cost for 

the Company’s stock options granted to employees been recognized based upon the estimated fair value on the grant date 

under the fair value methodology prescribed by SFAS 123, as amended by SFAS 148, the Company’s net earnings and earn-

ings per share would have been as follows (U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share amounts): 

December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Net income, as reported $ 64,843 $ 67,876 $ 77,674

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined 
under fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (5,450) (5,274) (6,224)

Pro forma net income $ 59,393 $ 62,602 $ 71,450

Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported $ 0.79 $ 0.86 $ 1.10

Basic—pro forma 0.73 0.80 1.01

Diluted—as reported 0.78 0.85 1.07

Diluted—pro forma 0.71 0.79 0.98
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Reporting comprehensive income

Comprehensive income is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and 

other events and circumstances from non-owner sources, and it includes all changes in equity during a period except those 

resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. 

Accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities

The Company recognizes all derivatives as either assets or liabilities, with the instruments measured at fair value as required 

by SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 133”). 

The Company’s Subsidiaries enter into significant transactions with each other and third parties that may not be de-

nominated in the respective Subsidiaries’ functional currencies. The Company regularly monitors its foreign currency risks 

and seeks to reduce its exposure to f luctuations in foreign exchange rates through the use of foreign currency exchange 

contracts and through certain intercompany loans of foreign currency.

The Company hedges its exposure to future cash f lows from forecasted transactions over a maximum period of 12 

months. Hedge effectiveness is assessed at inception and throughout the life of the hedge to ensure the hedge qualifies for 

hedge accounting treatment. Changes in fair value associated with hedge ineffectiveness, if any, are recorded in the results 

of operations currently. In the event that an anticipated transaction is no longer likely to occur, the Company recognizes 

the change in fair value of the derivative in its results of operations currently. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recorded in current earnings or accumulated other comprehensive loss, 

depending on the intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation. The gains and losses in accumulated other 

comprehensive loss stemming from these derivatives will be reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged 

forecasted transaction affects earnings. The fair value of the receivable and payable amounts related to these unrealized 

gains and losses is classified as other current assets and liabilities. The Company does not use such derivative financial 

instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Gains and losses on certain intercompany loans of foreign currency are 

recorded as other income and expense in the consolidated statements of income. 

New pronouncements

During the first quarter of 2004, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest 

Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51.” This accounting standard became effective during the first quarter of 2004. The 

adoption of this accounting standard did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,” which requires the expensing of em-

ployee options as of the beginning of the first interim reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. Consequently, the 

Company will begin expensing employee options during its third quarter of 2005. Until that time, the Company will con-

tinue to account for its stock-based compensation granted to employees according to the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25. 

The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this accounting standard on its financial statements. 

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs,” which requires certain inventory-related costs 

to be expensed as incurred. This accounting standard is effective January 1, 2006. The Company is currently assessing the 

effect of this accounting standard on its financial statements.

3. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company leases corporate office and warehouse space from two entities that are owned by certain officers and directors 

of the Company. Total lease payments to these two affiliated entities were $3.3 million, $3.3 million and $3.6 million for 

each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 with remaining long-term minimum lease payment obligations 

under these operating leases of $27.3 million and $23.5 million at December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are comprised of the following:

December 31,

2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Furniture and fi xtures $ 38,632 $ 41,121

Computers and equipment 78,266 84,598

Leasehold improvements 36,123 41,121

BioPhotonic Scanners 9,378 28,327

Vehicles 2,580 3,021

164,979 198,188

Less: Accumulated depreciation (104,451) (121,677)

$ 60,528 $ 76,511

Depreciation of property and equipment totaled $17.2 million, $18.3 million and $22.5 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, which includes amortization expense relating to the BioPhotonic 

Scanners of approximately $1.0 million and $4.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill and other intangible assets consist of the following:

Carrying Amount at
December 31,

Goodwill and other indefi nite life intangible assets: 2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Goodwill $ 118,768 $ 112,446

Trademarks and trade names 22,840 24,599

Marketing rights 12,266 —

Distributor network 4,081 —

$ 157,955 $ 137,045

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2004

Other fi nite life intangible assets:

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Gross 
Carrying 
Amount

Accumulated 
Amortization

Weighted-
average 

Amortization 
Period

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Developed technology $ 22,500 $ 7,666 $ 22,500 $ 8,490 20 years

Distributor network — — 11,598 5,576 15 years

Trademarks — — 12,203 5,640 15 years

Other 27,201 13,650 44,668 16,857 12 years

$ 49,701 $ 21,316 $ 90,969 $ 36,563 15 years

Amortization of finite-life intangible assets totaled $4.4 million, $4.1 million and $5.4 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Annual estimated amortization expense is expected to approximate $5.5 

million for each of the five succeeding fiscal years.

In connection with a registration statement the Company filed in October 2003, the Staff of the Securities and Exchange 

Commission commented on and sought additional support for the indefinite life designation of the Company’s trade names, 

marketing rights and distributor network assets. Based on the Company’s assessment in responding to these comments, the 

Company recorded the following in the second quarter of 2004: (i) a one-time amortization charge of $1.2 million resulting 

from retroactive changes in the estimates of the useful lives of certain intangible assets, which included the assignment of 

useful lives to the Company’s distributor network and certain trademarks and trade names that were previously designated 
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as indefinite lived assets; (ii) an entry to reduce intangible assets and retained earnings by approximately $8.8 million to 

reflect a reduction in the carrying amount of the marketing rights previously purchased from a group of controlling share-

holders to its carryover basis; and (iii) an entry to reclassify approximately $7.4 million from goodwill to distributor network 

and trade names and trademarks to retroactively reflect intangible assets acquired. 

As a result of these changes the Company recorded an additional $0.9 million of amortization related to these assets 

through the remainder of 2004 and will continue to recognize an additional $1.2 million of such amortization per year 

through the remainder of the useful lives, which approximate 11 years as of December 31, 2004.

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized, rather they are subject to annual impairment tests. 

Annual impairment tests were completed resulting in no impairment charges for any of the periods shown. Finite life in-

tangibles are amortized over their useful lives unless circumstances occur that cause the Company to revise such lives or 

review such assets for impairment.  

6. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of the following:

December 31,

2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Deferred taxes $ 32,936 $ 34,856

Deposits for noncancelable operating leases 15,912 11,636

Deposit for customs assessment (Note 19) — 11,820

Other 14,220 15,114

$ 63,068 $ 73,426

7. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2003 2004

(U.S. dollars in thousands)

Accrued commission payments to distributors $ 39,405 $ 43,845

Income taxes payable 7,792 6,612

Other taxes payable 8,916 5,521

Accrued payroll and payroll taxes 14,618 11,435

Accrued contingent payable (Note 20) — 8,217

Other accruals 24,337 31,596

$ 95,068 $ 107,226

8. LONG-TERM DEBT

The Company maintains a $25.0 million revolving credit facility that expires in May 2007. Drawings on this revolving 

credit facility may be used for working capital, capital expenditures and other purposes including repurchases of the 

Company’s outstanding shares of Class A common stock. As of December 31, 2004, there were no outstanding balances 

under this revolving credit facility. 

The Company also has a $125.0 million multi-currency private uncommitted shelf facility with Prudential Investment 

Management, Inc. As of December 31, 2004, we had $70.0 million outstanding under our shelf facility, $5.0 million of 

which is included in the current portion of long-term debt. This long-term debt is U.S. dollar denominated, bears interest 

of approximately 4.5% per annum and is amortized in two tranches over five and seven years. The Company’s long-term 

debt also includes the long-term portion of Japanese yen denominated ten-year senior notes issued to the Prudential Insur-

ance Company of America in 2000. The notes bear interest at an effective rate of 3.0% per annum and are due October 

2010, with annual principal payments that began in October 2004. As of December 31, 2004, the outstanding balance on 

the notes was 8.3 billion Japanese yen, or $81.2 million, $13.5 million of which is included in the current portion of long-

term debt. The Japanese notes and the revolving and shelf credit facilities are secured by guarantees issued by our mate-

rial subsidiaries or by pledges of 65% to 100% of the outstanding stock of our material subsidiaries.
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Interest expense relating to the long-term debt totaled $2.4 million, $3.2 million and $5.9 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

The notes and shelf facility contain other terms and conditions and affirmative and negative financial covenants cus-

tomary for credit facilities of this type. As of December 31, 2004, the Company is in compliance with all financial covenants 

under the notes and shelf facility.

Maturities of all long-term debt at December 31, 2004, based on the year-end exchange rate, are as follows 

(U.S. dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2005 $ 18,540

2006 28,540

2007 28,540

2008 28,540

2009 23,540

Thereafter 23,541

Total $ 151,241

9. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

The Company leases office space and computer hardware under noncancelable long-term operating leases including related 

party leases (see Note 3). Most leases include renewal options of at least three years. Minimum future operating lease ob-

ligations at December 31, 2004 are as follows (U.S. dollars in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2005 $ 12,989

2006 12,614

2007 12,733

2008 12,889

2009 12,054

Thereafter 5,564

Total minimum lease payments $ 68,843

Rental expense for operating leases totaled $21.0 million, $24.2 million and $25.9 million for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

10. CAPITAL STOCK

The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 25 million shares of preferred stock, par value $.001 per share, 500 

million shares of Class A common stock, par value $.001 per share and 100 million shares of Class B common stock, par 

value $.001 per share. The shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are identical in all respects, except 

for voting rights and certain conversion rights and transfer restrictions, as follows: (1) each share of Class A common stock 

entitles the holder to one vote on matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders and each share of Class B com-

mon stock entitles the holder to ten votes on each such matter; (2) stock dividends of Class A common stock may be paid 

only to holders of Class A common stock and stock dividends of Class B common stock may be paid only to holders of Class 

B common stock; (3) if a holder of Class B common stock transfers such shares to a person other than a permitted transferee, 

as defined in the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation, such shares will be converted automatically into shares of Class 

A common stock; and (4) Class A common stock has no conversion rights; however, each share of Class B common stock is 

convertible into one share of Class A common stock, in whole or in part, at any time at the option of the holder. All Class B 

shares have been converted to Class A shares. 
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Weighted-average common shares outstanding

The following is a reconciliation of the weighted-average common shares outstanding for purposes of computing basic and 

diluted net income per share (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 81,731 78,637 70,734

Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock awards and options 1,397 904 1,893

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 83,128 79,541 72,627

For the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, other stock options totaling 2.7 million, 2.9 million and 0.6 

million, respectively, were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they were anti-dilutive.

Repurchases of common stock

Since August 1998, the board of directors has authorized the Company to repurchase up to $90.0 million of the Company’s 

outstanding shares of Class A common stock on the open market or in private transactions. The repurchases are used primar-

ily for the Company’s equity incentive plans and strategic initiatives. During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 

2004, the Company repurchased approximately 1.2 million, 0.8 million and 0.1 million shares of Class A common stock for 

an aggregate price of approximately $14.2 million, $8.4 million and $1.3 million, respectively, under these repurchase pro-

grams. Between August 1998 and December 31, 2004, the Company had repurchased a total of approximately 8.8 million 

shares of Class A common stock under this repurchase program for an aggregate price of approximately $82.9 million.

Additionally, in October 2003, the Company repurchased approximately 10.8 million shares of Class A common stock 

from certain members of the Company’s original stockholder group for approximately $141.6 million, which included $1.6 

million of related expenses. These stockholders also sold approximately 6.2 million additional shares of Class A common 

stock to third-party investors. The transaction also included the agreement among all participants in the transaction to 

convert all of their remaining shares of super-voting Class B common stock to Class A common stock. The terms and condi-

tions of the repurchase were approved by a special committee of the Company’s board of directors comprised solely of in-

dependent directors. The special committee engaged its own financial and legal advisors in connection with the repurchase 

transaction. The Company financed the repurchase with $45.0 million from existing cash balances, approximately $20.0 

million from its revolving credit facility, which was repaid prior to December 31, 2003 and $75.0 million in new long-term 

debt drawn under the $125.0 million shelf facility.

On July 30, 2004, the Company purchased approximately 3.1 million shares of common stock from members of its 

original stockholder group for an aggregate purchase price of $71.0 million, or $22.62 per share. These stockholders also 

sold 1.5 million shares to third-party investors. The Company purchased the shares pursuant to an option that was obtained 

by the Company as part of a recapitalization transaction completed in October 2003. The Company filed a registration 

statement with respect to the shares sold to the third-party investors.

Conversion of common stock

During 2002 and 2003, the holders of the Class B common stock converted approximately 3.5 million and 45.4 million 

shares of Class B common stock to Class A common stock, respectively. The conversion of 45.4 million shares of Class B 

common stock in 2003 was part of the repurchase transaction described above. As of December 31, 2004, all outstanding 

Class B common stock had been converted to Class A common stock. 

11. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

During the year ended December 31, 1996, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc., 1996 

Stock Incentive Plan (the “1996 Stock Incentive Plan”). The 1996 Stock Incentive Plan provides for granting of stock awards 

and options to purchase common stock to executives, other employees, independent consultants and directors of the Com-

pany and its Subsidiaries. On February 7, 2003, the board of directors authorized and the shareholders approved an amend-

ment to the plan increasing the number of shares available for grant from 8.0 million to 13.0 million. As of December 31, 

2004, approximately 9.6 million shares or options have been granted. 

In 2001 the Company offered to exchange certain outstanding options to purchase shares of Nu Skin’s Class A common 

stock held by eligible option holders granted under the 1996 Stock Incentive Plan having an exercise price equal to or 

greater than $10.00 per share for new options to purchase shares of Nu Skin’s Class A common stock. A total of 90 employ-
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ees tendered 950,125 options to purchase the Company’s Class A common stock, which options were cancelled on October 

17, 2001, in return for commitments of new grants on the grant date of April 19, 2002. These new option grants were issued 

on April 19, 2002 at an exercise price of $12.45 per share. 

Effective November 21, 1996, the Company implemented a one-time distributor equity incentive program which pro-

vided for grants of options to selected distributors for the purchase of 1,605,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common 

stock. The options were exercisable at a price of $5.75 per share and vested one year from the effective date. The Company 

recorded distributor stock expense of $19.9 million over the vesting period. As of December 31, 2003, this one-time dis-

tributor equity incentive program concluded. At that date, approximately 1.2 million of these options had been exercised 

throughout the years of the program and the remaining options were either cancelled or forfeited. 

The deferred compensation at December 31, 2004 represents a restricted stock award of 250,000 shares of the Company’s 

Class A common stock granted to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President in 2003, which vests over four years. 

The Company is amortizing this deferred expense ratably over the vesting period. Compensation expense for this restricted 

stock award totaled $0.7 million and $0.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. 

A summary of the Company’s stock option plans as of December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 and changes during the years 

then ended, is presented below:

2002 2003 2004

Shares 
(in 000s)

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price
Shares 

(in 000s)

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price
Shares 

(in 000s)

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price

Outstanding—beginning of year 5,347.1 $ 9.80 6,994.6 $ 10.41 6,941.9 $ 11.46

Granted at fair value 2,103.4 11.90 1,728.1 10.80 1,355.2 22.15

Exercised (204.5) 6.34 (1,289.8) 6.82 (1,655.3) 9.97

Forfeited/canceled (251.4) 13.25 (491.0) 6.34 (48.7) 12.46

Outstanding—end of year 6,994.6 10.41 6,941.9 11.46 6,593.1 14.03

Options exercisable at end of year 3,454.0 $ 9.64 3,292.7 $ 11.37 3,374.0 $ 11.89

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Exercise Price Range

Shares 
(in 000s)

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted-
average 
Years

Remaining
Shares 

(in 000s)

Weighted-
average 
Exercise 

Price

$0.92 to $5.75 73.4 $ 5.40 3.79 73.4 $ 5.40

$6.50 to $11.00 2,154.0 8.24 6.59 1,535.6 7.94

$11.37 to 16.00 2,157.5 12.30 7.50 1,107.7 12.49

$16.95 to $28.50 2,208.2 21.64 7.40 657.3 20.82

6,593.1 14.03 7.13 3,374.0 11.89

The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 

following weighted-average assumptions:

2002 2003 2004

Risk-free interest rate 3.6% 2.7% 2.8%

Expected life 3.3 years 3.8 years 3.9 years

Expected volatility 52.7% 54.2% 45.4%

Expected dividend yield 2.2% 2.5% 1.9%

The weighted-average grant date fair values of options granted during 2002, 2003 and 2004 were $4.18, $3.92 and 

$7.27, respectively.

Effective February 1, 2000, the Company’s board of directors adopted the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase 

Plan”), which provides for the issuance of a maximum of 200,000 shares of Class A common stock. Eligible employees can 

have up to 15% of their earnings withheld, up to certain maximums, to be used to purchase shares of the Company’s Class 
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A common stock on every April 30, July 31, October 31 or January 31 (the “Purchase Date”). The price of the Class A com-

mon stock purchased under the Purchase Plan will be equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Class A 

common stock on the commencement date of each three-month offering period or Purchase Date. During 2004, approxi-

mately 22,000 shares were purchased at prices ranging from $13.64 to $20.83 per share. At December 31, 2004, approxi-

mately 110,000 shares were available under the Purchase Plan for future issuance.

12. INCOME TAXES

Consolidated income before provision for income taxes consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 

2002, 2003 and 2004 (U.S. dollars in thousands): 

2002 2003 2004

U.S. $ 68,540 $ 102,341 $ 85,013

Foreign 34,385 5,398 37,128

Total $ 102,925 $ 107,739 $ 122,141

The provision for current and deferred taxes for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 consists of the 

following (U.S. dollars in thousands):

2002 2003 2004

Current

Federal $ 2,800 $ 1,709 $ (10,702)

State 4,548 3,029 553

Foreign 26,957 57,573 21,742

34,305 62,311 11,593

Deferred

Federal 6,819 16,641 16,805

State (1,268) 676 1,256

Foreign (1,774) (39,765) 14,813

3,777 (22,448) 32,874

Provision for income taxes $ 38,082 $ 39,863 $ 44,467

The Company’s foreign taxes paid are high relative to foreign operating income and the Company’s U.S. taxes paid are 

low relative to U.S. operating income due largely to the f low of funds among the Company’s Subsidiaries around the world. 

As payments for services, management fees, license arrangements and royalties are made from the Company’s foreign af-

filiates to its U.S. corporate headquarters, these payments often incur withholding and other forms of tax that are gener-

ally creditable for U.S. tax purposes. Therefore, these payments lead to increased foreign effective tax rates and lower U.S. 

effective tax rates. Variations (or shifts) occur in the Company’s foreign and U.S. effective tax rates from year to year 

depending on several factors including the impact of global transfer prices and the timing and level of remittances from 

foreign affiliates.
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The principal components of deferred taxes are as follows (U.S. dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2004

Deferred tax assets:

Inventory differences $ 4,362 $ 2,373

Foreign tax differential 10,810 13,417

Accrued expenses not deductible until paid 25,780 26,059

Withholding tax 3,773 1,088

Minimum tax credit 18,380 18,228

Net operating losses 14,158 5,209

Controlled foreign corporation net losses 6,465 7,664

Capitalized research and development 8,803 10,668

Prepaid selling expenses 10,992 —

Other 3,136 2,771

Gross deferred tax assets 106,659 87,477

Deferred tax liabilities:

Exchange gains and losses 7,762 7,210

Pharmanex intangibles step-up 16,256 15,961

Amortization of intangibles 4,410 4,567

Prepaid expenses — 5,153

Other 4,115 5,426

Gross deferred tax liabilities 32,543 38,317

Deferred taxes, net $ 74,116 $ 49,160

The components of deferred taxes, net on a jurisdiction basis are as follows (U.S. dollars in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2004

Net current deferred tax assets $ 41,326 $ 22,215

Net noncurrent deferred tax assets 32,936 34,856

Total net deferred tax assets 74,262 57,071

Net current deferred tax liabilities — 8

Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 146 7,903

Total net deferred tax liabilities 146 7,911

Deferred taxes, net $ 74,116 $ 49,160

The Company has considered projected future taxable income and ongoing tax planning strategies in determining that 

no valuation allowance is required.

The net operating loss carryforwards begin expiring in 2008, while the foreign tax credits begin expiring in 2010. 

Utilization of these loss and credit carryforwards is subject to annual limitations; however, management believes that it is 

more likely than not that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in the appropriate carry forward periods to 

realize the benefit of the net deferred tax assets.

The Company is subject to regular audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. These audits may result in pro-

posed assessments that may result in additional tax liabilities. The Company accounts for any income tax contingencies in 

accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.”
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The actual tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 compared to the statutory U.S. Federal tax 

rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Income taxes at statutory rate 35.00% 35.00% 35.00%

Foreign tax differential .20 (1.80) 3.11

Non-deductible expenses .22 .16 .21

Branch remittance gains and losses (.55) (.38) (.32)

Distributor stock options and employee stock awards — 1.94 —

Permanently reinvested controlled foreign corporation 
income — — (2.89)

Other 2.13 2.08 1.30

37.00% 37.00% 36.41%

The decrease in the effective tax rate in 2004 was due to the Company’s election in 2004 to permanently reinvest a 

portion of the Company’s earnings from its foreign operations. The Company anticipates the remittance of these earnings 

to be postponed indefinitely.

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) defined contribution plan which permits participating employees to defer up to a maximum of 

15% of their compensation, subject to limitations established by the Internal Revenue Code. Employees who work a mini-

mum of 1,000 hours per year, who have completed at least one year of service and who are 21 years of age or older are 

qualified to participate in the plan. The Company matches 100% of the first 2% and 50% of the next 2% of each participant’s 

contributions to the plan. Participant contributions are immediately vested. Company contributions vest based on the 

participant’s years of service at 25% per year over four years. The Company recorded compensation expense of $1.2 million, 

$1.1 million and $1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, related to its contribu-

tions to the plan. 

The Company has a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Japan. All employees of Nu Skin Japan, after 

certain years of service, are entitled to pension plan benefits when they terminate employment with Nu Skin Japan. The 

accrued pension liability was $3.7 million and $4.4 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Although Nu 

Skin Japan has not specifically funded this obligation, Nu Skin Japan believes it maintains adequate cash balances for this 

defined benefit pension plan. The Company recorded pension expense of $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.8 million for 

the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

14. EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Company has an executive deferred compensation plan for select management personnel. Under this plan, the Com-

pany currently makes a contribution of 10% of each participant’s salary. In addition, each participant has the option to 

defer a portion of their compensation up to a maximum of 100% of their compensation. Participant contributions are im-

mediately vested. Company contributions vest based on the earlier of (a) attaining 60 years of age, (b) continuous employ-

ment of 20 years or (c) death or disability. The Company recorded compensation expense of $0.4 million, $0.6 million and 

$0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively, related to its contributions to the plan. 

The Company had accrued $3.3 million and $4.5 million as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively, related to the 

Executive Deferred Compensation Plan.

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At December 31, 2003 and 2004, the Company held forward contracts designated as foreign currency cash f low hedges 

with notional amounts totaling approximately $64.3 million and $82.0 million, respectively, to hedge forecasted foreign-

currency-denominated intercompany transactions. All such contracts were denominated in Japanese yen. As of December 

31, 2003 and 2004, $3.9 million of net unrealized losses and $3.2 million of net unrealized loss, net of related taxes, re-

spectively, were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The contracts held at December 31, 2004 have ma-

turities through December 2005 and accordingly, all unrealized gains and losses on foreign currency cash f low hedges 

included in accumulated other comprehensive loss will be recognized in current earnings over the next 12 months. The 

pre-tax net gain on foreign currency cash f low hedges recorded in current earnings was $4.5 million for the year ended 
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December 31, 2002, and the pre-tax net losses on foreign currency cash f low hedges recorded in current earnings were $5.3 

million and $5.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

During 2002, 2003 and 2004, the Company did not have any gains or losses related to hedging ineffectiveness. Ad-

ditionally, no component of gains and losses was excluded from the assessment of hedging effectiveness. During 2002, 2003 

and 2004, the Company did not have any gains or losses reclassified into earnings as a result of the discontinuance of cash 

f low hedges.

16. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid for interest totaled $2.3 million, $2.7 million and $4.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 

2004, respectively. The increase in cash paid for interest in 2004, compared to prior years, was due to the additional debt 

discussed in Note 8. Cash paid for income taxes totaled $18.8 million, $26.6 million and $7.3 million for the years ended 

December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. The decrease in cash paid for income taxes in 2004, compared to prior 

years, was due to the utilization of foreign tax credits.

17. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates in a single reportable operating segment by selling products to a global network of independent 

distributors that operates in a seamless manner from market to market except for its operations in China. In China, the 

Company utilizes an employed sales force to sell its products through fixed retail locations. The Company’s largest expense 

(selling expenses) is the world-wide commissions and China sales employee expenses paid on product sales. The Company 

manages its business primarily by managing its global sales force. The Company does not use profitability reports on a re-

gional or divisional basis for making business decisions. However, the Company does recognize revenue in five geographic 

regions: North Asia, Greater China, North America, South Asia/Pacific and Other Markets. 

Revenue generated in each of these regions is set forth below (U.S. dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

North Asia $ 593,860 $ 612,840 $ 640,110

Greater China 104,877 135,535 229,802

North America 145,952 127,599 145,714

South Asia/Pacifi c 91,110 75,816 81,742

Other Markets 28,268 34,667 40,496

Total $ 964,067 $ 986,457 $ 1,137,864

Revenue generated by each of its three product lines is set forth below (U.S. dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2002 2003 2004

Nu Skin $ 470,567 $ 476,150 $ 548,052

Pharmanex 439,019 472,107 567,190

Big Planet 54,481 38,200 22,622

Total $ 964,067 $ 986,457 $ 1,137,864

Additional information as to the Company’s operations in the most significant geographical areas is set forth below:

Revenue (u.s. dollars in thousands)

Revenue from the Company’s operations in Japan totaled $529,740, $558,654 and $579,504 for the years ended December 

31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Revenue from the Company’s operations in the United States totaled $136,580, 

$113,340 and $135,710 for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively.
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Long-lived assets (u.s. dollars in thousands)

Long-lived assets in Japan were $8,451 and $10,556 as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Long-lived assets in 

the United States were $36,865 and $50,137 as of December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

18. RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER CHARGES

During the third quarter of 2003, the Company recorded restructuring and other charges of $5.6 million, including $5.1 

million of expenses relating to an early retirement program and other employee separation charges. As a result, the Compa-

ny’s overall headcount was reduced by approximately 130 employees, the majority of which were related to the elimination 

of positions at the Company’s U.S. headquarters. These expenses consisted primarily of severance and other compensation 

charges. The Company also completed the divestiture of its professional employer organization resulting in a charge of ap-

proximately $0.5 million. Revenue from the professional employer organization totaled $22.0 million and $9.1 million for 

the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, respectively. As of December 31, 2004, all restructuring and other charges 

had been paid.

19. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company is subject to governmental regulations pertaining to product formulation, labeling and packaging, product 

claims and advertising and to the Company’s direct selling system. The Company is also subject to the jurisdiction of nu-

merous foreign tax and customs authorities. Any assertions or determination that either the Company or the Company’s 

distributors is not in compliance with existing statutes, laws, rules or regulations could potentially have a material adverse 

effect on the Company’s operations. In addition, in any country of jurisdiction, the adoption of new statutes, laws, rules or 

regulations or changes in the interpretation of existing statutes, laws, rules or regulations could have a material adverse 

effect on the Company and its operations. Although management believes that the Company is in compliance, in all mate-

rial respects, with the statutes, laws, rules and regulations of every jurisdiction in which it operates, no assurance can be 

given that the Company’s compliance with applicable statutes, laws, rules and regulations will not be challenged by foreign 

authorities or that such challenges will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of 

operations or cash f lows. The Company and its Subsidiaries are defendants in litigation and proceedings involving various 

matters. In the opinion of the Company’s management, based upon advice of its counsel handling such litigation and pro-

ceedings, adverse outcomes, if any, will not likely result in a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial condi-

tion, results of operations or cash f lows. 

In October 2004, the Company was assessed by the Yokohama customs authorities in Japan a total of approximately 

$9.0 million, net of any recovery of consumption taxes, for duties on products imported into Japan from October 2002 

through October 2003. The value and methodology the Company used for determining the amount of duties payable for 

these periods is consistent with prior years and has been previously reviewed on several occasions by the audit division of 

the Japan customs authorities, and reviewed and approved by the Valuation Department of the Yokohama customs author-

ity. As such, the Company believes the assessment is improper and has filed letters of protest with Yokohama customs. The 

Company expects to receive a reply within the next couple of months. If necessary, the Company will appeal this issue to 

the Ministry of Finance in Japan. In order to file the letter of protest with Yokohama customs, the Company was required 

to pay the amount that was assessed. In addition, the Audit Division of Yokohama customs has recently completed an audit 

of the period from November 2003 through October 2004. The Company has not yet been informed of the findings of this 

recent audit. The Company may be assessed for additional duties related to this period, which the Company anticipates 

would be a similar amount to the prior assessment. The Company would file letters of protest with Yokohama customs in a 

similar manner in case of any such assessment.

20. PURCHASE OF LONG–TERM ASSETS

In March 2002, the Company acquired the exclusive rights to a new laser technology related to measuring the level of 

certain antioxidants. The acquisition consisted of cash payments of $4.8 million (including acquisition costs) and the issu-

ance of 106,667 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock valued at $936,000. In addition, the acquisition includes 

contingent payments up to $8.5 million of cash and up to 1.2 million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock if 

certain development and revenue targets are met. During the year ended December 31, 2004, some of these specific devel-

opment and revenue targets were met resulting in contingent payments of approximately $5.1 million of cash of which $2.1 

million was paid subsequent to year end, and 525,000 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock valued at $13.0 mil-

lion, of which 262,500 shares were issued subsequent to year end. These amounts have been added to the carrying value of 

other finite life intangible assets. 
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In April 2002, the Company acquired First Harvest International, LLC, a small dehydrated food manufacturer. The 

Company paid a total of $2.7 million including the assumption of certain liabilities for this transaction.

21. DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

Quarterly cash dividends for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004 totaled $21.9 million and $22.6 million, re-

spectively. In February 2005, the board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.09 per share for all classes of 

common stock that was paid on March 23, 2005 to stockholders of record on March 4, 2005. 

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

In February 2005 the board of directors authorized the Company to repurchase an additional $20.0 million of the Compa-

ny’s outstanding shares of Class A common stock. 

On February 7, 2005, the Company issued a series of Japanese yen denominated senior promissory notes (the “Notes”) to 

affiliates of Prudential Investment Management, Inc. (“Prudential”). The Notes were issued pursuant to its $125.0 million 

Private Shelf Agreement entered into between the Company and Prudential on August 26, 2003 (the “Shelf Agreement”).

The aggregate principal amount of the Notes is 3.1 billion Japanese yen, or approximately $30.0 million as of February 

28, 2005, bearing a 1.7% interest rate per annum, with interest payable semi-annually beginning on April 30, 2005. The 

final maturity date of the Notes is April 30, 2014 and principal payments are required annually beginning on April 30, 

2008 in equal installments of 445.7 million Japanese yen. The Notes are also governed by the terms of the Shelf Agreement 

and amendments thereto, which contain certain representations, warranties and covenants by the Company, as well as 

customary conditions upon which the obligations under the Notes may be accelerated and become due and payable imme-

diately, or become subject to additional obligations. The proceeds from the Notes may be used for working capital, capital 

expenditures and other purposes including repurchases of the Company’s outstanding shares of Class A common stock. 
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We have completed an integrated audit of Nu Skin Enterprises, 

Inc.’s 2004 consolidated financial statements and of its internal 

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 and 

audits of its 2003 and 2002 consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Ac-

counting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based 

on our audits, are presented below.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, 

of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in 

all material respects, the financial position of Nu Skin 

Enterprises, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2004 

and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash 

flows for each of the three years in the period ended De-

cember 31, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America. These 

financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 

management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 

these financial statements based on our audits. We con-

ducted our audits of these statements in accordance with 

the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight 

Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 

and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, and evaluating the overall financial state-

ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 

reasonable basis for our opinion.

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the 

accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over 

Financial Reporting appearing on page 73, that the Company 

maintained effective internal control over financial reporting 

as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in In-
ternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those 

criteria. Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, 

in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 

reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established 

in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining 

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 

assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 

reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on man-

agement’s assessment and on the effectiveness of the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial re-

porting in accordance with the standards of the Public Com-

pany Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control 

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. 

An audit of internal control over financial reporting includes 

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 

reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and 

evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal 

control, and performing such other procedures as we consider 

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinions. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a 

process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of finan-

cial statements for external purposes in accordance with gener-

ally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 

control over financial reporting includes those policies and 

procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 

in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transac-

tions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide 

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary 

to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts 

and expenditures of the company are being made only in ac-

cordance with authorizations of management and directors of 

the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding 

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 

use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 

material effect on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inad-

equate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah

March 15, 2005

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Nu Skin Enterprises, Inc.:
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Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Chief Executive Offi cer and Chief Financial Offi cer Certifi cations

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commis-

sion the certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer required under Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to our most re-

cently filed Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In addition, M. Truman Hunt, as our Chief Executive 

Officer, submitted to the New York Stock Exchange the 

Chief Executive Officer certification required by Section 

303A.12(a) of the 2004 New York Stock Exchange manual.

Our management is responsible for establishing and main-

taining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 

Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 

13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a 

process designed by, or under the supervision of, our prin-

cipal executive and principal financial officers and ef-

fected by our board of directors, management and other 

personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 

reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 

financial statements for external purposes in accordance 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the 

United States of America and includes those policies and 

procedures that:

• pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 

detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of our assets;

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are re-

corded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America, 

and that our receipts and expenditures are being made 

only in accordance with authorization of management 

and directors; and 

• provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 

or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use 

or disposition of our assets that could have a material 

effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control 

over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstate-

ments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness 

to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 

become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 

the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 

may deteriorate.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our 

management, including our principal executive and principal 

financial officers, we assessed, as of December 31, 2004, the 

effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. 

This assessment was based on criteria established in the 

framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by 

the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission. Based on our assessment, our management con-

cluded that our internal control over financial reporting was 

effective as of December 31, 2004.

Our assessment of the effectiveness of our internal con-

trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has 

been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent 

registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report 

which is included in this Annual Report.
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

Our Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and trades under the symbol “NUS.” The 

following table is based upon the information available to us and sets forth the range of the high and low sales prices for 

our Class A common stock for the quarterly periods during 2003 and 2004 based upon quotations on the NYSE:

High Low

March 31, 2003 $ 13.40 $ 8.82

June 30, 2003  10.50  8.75

September 30, 2003  12.90  10.22

December 31, 2003  17.98  12.77

March 31, 2004  21.97  16.65

June 30, 2004  25.91  20.55

September 30, 2004  28.15  23.03

December 31, 2004  25.75  16.27

The market price of our Class A common stock is subject to significant f luctuations in response to variations in our 

quarterly operating results, general trends in the market for our products and product candidates, economic and currency 

exchange issues in the foreign markets in which we operate and other factors, many of which are not within our control. In 

addition, broad market f luctuations, as well as general economic, business, regulatory and political conditions may ad-

versely affect the market for our Class A common stock, regardless of our actual or projected performance.

The closing price of our Class A common stock on February 28, 2005, was $22.33. The approximate number of holders 

of record of our Class A common stock as of February 28, 2005 was 655. This number of holders of record does not represent 

the actual number of beneficial owners of shares of our Class A common stock because shares are frequently held in “street 

name” by securities dealers and others for the benefit of individual owners who have the right to vote their shares. 

We declared and paid a $0.07 per share dividend for Class A common stock in March, June, September and December 

of 2003, and a $0.08 per share dividend for Class A common stock in March, June, September and December of 2004. The 

board of directors declared a cash dividend of $0.09 per share of Class A common stock on February 3, 2005. This cash 

dividend was paid on March 23, 2005, to stockholders of record on March 4, 2005. Management believes that cash f lows 

from operations will be sufficient to fund future dividend payments, if any.

We expect to continue to pay dividends on our common stock. However, the declaration of dividends is subject to the 

discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon various factors, including our net earnings, financial condition, 

cash requirements, future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors.
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Corporate Information

ANNUAL MEETING

Nu Skin Enterprises’ annual stockholders’ meeting will be held at 4 
p.m. on Tuesday, May 10, 2005 at:

One Nu Skin Plaza

75 West Center Street

Provo, Utah 84601

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED 

PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

201 South Main, Suite 900
Salt Lake City, Utah 84111
Telephone: 801-531-9666

STOCK LISTING

Nu Skin Enterprises’ stock is listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange under the ticker symbol: NUS

TRANSFER AGENT

Inquiries regarding lost stock certifi cates, consolidation of 
accounts, and changes in address, name, or ownership should 
be addressed to:

American Stock Transfer & Trust

59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10038

Domestic telephone: 877-777-0800
International telephone: 718-921-8200

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Nu Skin Enterprises

75 West Center Street

Provo, Utah 84601
Telephone: 801-345-6100

COMPANY WEB SITES

Nu Skin Enterprises: www.nuskinenterprises.com

Nu Skin: www.nuskin.com

Pharmanex: www.pharmanex.com

Big Planet: www.bigplanet.com

ADDITIONAL STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Additional information and news about Nu Skin Enter-

prises is available at www.nuskinenterprises.com. For inves-

tor information, inquiries, annual reports, and SEC filings, 

call 801-345-6100, e-mail callen@nuskin.com, or write 

Investor Relations at the corporate headquarters.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements, 

which represent our expectations and beliefs about future 

events and operating results as of the date of this report, 

including the outlook for future growth and performance, 

strategic initiatives and new products. Words or phrases 

such as “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “plans,” and 

similar words or phrases are intended to help identify 

forward-looking statements. These forward-looking state-

ments are subject to risks and uncertainties including those 

risks and uncertainties identified under the caption Note 

Regarding Forward-Looking Statements of this annual 

report and those identified in our most recent 10-K. The 

forward-looking statements represent our views as of the 

date of this report and we assume no duty to update these 

forward-looking statements.


